# **Generational Changes and Leadership: Implications For Social Change Organizations**

by Frances Kunreuther The Hauser Center for Nonprofit Organizations

Report to the Annie E. Casey Foundation December 20, 2002

# Acknowledgments

This study was conceived out of a meeting 1999 with a group of leaders of US based social change nonprofits. Further information was provided by participants in seven subsequent meetings on social change organizations that we held around the country. Many thanks to all of those who participated in these meetings.

Carol Chetkovich was our academic advisor who originally joined the project team for her expertise on qualitative methods. She was invaluable in guiding the study's design and implementation and offered her insightful comments on countless drafts of this report.

Sarah Titus, the research assistant on the team, read the transcript and listened to every interview, hounded interviewers and participants for information and made sure all the pieces were in place. She also made significant contributions to the report assisting with the background research and the editing of the final analysis.

Lavern McDonald and Mary Spooner conducted the majority of the interviews for the study. They also spent endless hours on the phone and in meetings working with 'the team' on the design and implementation of the study, and the interpretation of the findings.

Curtis Ogden and Julia Sheketof made important contributions to the background research on literature and data related to generational differences.

The Annie E. Casey Foundation provided the funding for the study, which is part of the Building Movement Project funded by the Ford Foundation.

And finally, special thanks to the participants in this study who took the time to meet with us and share their experiences working for social change.

# **Table of Contents**

Executive Summary	i
Introduction	
Background	2
Methodology	8
Findings	15
Conclusion and Recommendations	75
Race, Gender, and Power	79
Appendix A – Resources	82
Appendix B – Topic Guide	86
Appendix C – Table 1 Characteristics of Sample Organizations	89
Appendix D – Table 2 Respondent Characteristics	90

#### **DRAFT**

# Generational Changes and Leadership: Implications For Social Change Organizations

# **Executive Summary**

The Generational Change project was designed to investigate and understand differences between older and younger people working in progressive social change organizations in the nonprofit sector with a special emphasis on building young leadership. The project is a qualitative study of thirty-seven directors and staff in sixteen nonprofits located in Boston and New York. The findings of the study seem to refute the notion of large generational differences. Older and younger people involved in these organizations have many of the same qualities: commitment, concern, energy, interest, and a strong belief in justice. However, there are differences between those who were born in the Baby Boom generation and those who identify more with Generation X. These differences and their impact on future leadership are noted below.

#### Summary of Findings

# Background

- Older participants frequently referred to their involvement in the social movements of the 1960s and 1970s, which provided them with an exposure to ideas and situations that unveiled the 'causes' of the problems facing society. They entered the nonprofit sector to work in an organization where they could, 'change the world' and never left.
- Most of the younger participants were drawn to social change nonprofits because of personal experiences and a desire to help those in their communities or in situations similar to their own.
- Younger directors were more likely than their older peers to report having worked in the for-profit sector, which they found especially useful in their current position. In addition, all but one of the younger directors had attended an elite college or university that no doubt added to their credibility as young leaders of social change organizations.
- Younger staff, especially those from the organization's constituent groups, often reported how young directors had identified and then recruited them into their current positions.

#### Work/Personal Life Divide

• Younger participants in the study were committed to their work and to their organizations, putting in long hours on the job. However, many of the younger

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Directors were usually the executive director of the organization. In some cases they were one of the codirectors, and in collectives, it was either a founder or someone in the collective chosen to represent the group. Older participants were 45 years or older and younger participants were under 40.

respondents were struggling with how to balance the demands of their work and having a life outside the job. Several, particularly the young men, worried about how to continue their work and make time for a family.

- Most of the older people interviewed seemed to have resolved the tensions between their work and their personal lives. It remains unclear whether they had less conflict because they were different than their younger peers or simply because they are in a different stage of the life cycle.
- Younger participants did not report talking with older directors or staff about the work/personal life challenges they faced, nor did older directors seemed to be aware of this conflict.

# **Enjoyment**

- When asked what they enjoyed in their work, all respondents talked about the satisfaction they found in helping other people, whether it was providing a service, advocating for reform, or providing venues for constituents to organize for their own political interests. For staff and directors who came from the communities being served, there was a special enjoyment in being able to help others like themselves.
- Young staff members talked about how they enjoyed working in their particular organization because of its values and the people they worked with. They especially talked about the collegiality or family-like feeling of the staff.
- Directors both older and younger -- mentioned the challenge of the position as a great source of enjoyment. They liked the creativity, problem solving and daily juggling (of time and resources) that the position required.
- In general, younger respondents were more effusive about their work, often talking about their 'love 'of their jobs, and their desire never to have to leave.

## Challenges

- The interviews revealed differences between the generations in the challenges
  individuals felt their work and organizations presented them, however, those
  difference tended to be most closely tied to an individual's role in the organization.
  For older directors, the challenges lay in administrative tasks and the demands of
  funding. Younger directors were more focused on the challenges they faced of how
  to grow and change their organizations while still meeting the needs of their
  constituents.
- Young staffers were particularly challenged by trying to meet the demands of constituents which often meant they spent long hours at the job. This challenge was exacerbated in situations where the young staff member did not feel their friends and family understood why they put so much time into their work.

 Participants at all ages and levels within organizations frequently mentioned their impatience with the slow pace of change. In addition some of the young participants were particularly struck by the inability of different groups to work together and expressed frustration that the larger goal of social change was subverted by individual 'ego' needs.

#### **Decision-Making**

- Overall, there was an unspoken assumption that involving staff members in decision-making was an important value in social change work. However, despite the directors' determination to include staff (and in some cases constituents), staff were often confused about the process, especially in organizations with older directors. Young staff members would talk about having 'input' into decision-making, but often seemed unclear about their real power and authority.
- The study revealed two major styles of decision-making. The first, used by older and younger directors, ranged from input to collective decision-making (with high levels of discussion), which required a lot of time and energy of all staff. The second, more likely to be used by young directors, operated on a flattened hierarchical model (that gave staff autonomy and freedom to accomplish certain tasks), which required less time and energy of all staff.
- Younger directors were more likely to talk about and try different approaches for making decisions. One organization had both a leadership circle and weekly staff meetings, another had several team meetings led by the director, and a third discussed a team approach that would make decisions by consensus and bring any conflicts to the executive director. All of these processes were designed to maximize staff involvement.

## Leadership

- Vision, communication skills, collaborative style and concern about staff were noted across all age groups and positions as qualities of good leadership in social change organizations.
- Older directors discussed leadership in two ways. Founders were more likely to focus
  on the values and skills that would be needed for their successor. Older directors who
  were not founders tended to describe leadership as a way to reflect on the qualities
  they have been able to bring to their work.
- Younger directors were more focused on building new leadership, both in their organization and as an important quality of a leader. They also talked about how good leaders need to listen to and get help from others.
- For younger staff members, vision and communication were key components to leadership. They were more likely to have high expectations of leadership and seemed surprisingly unconcerned about their own leadership qualities.

# **Training for Leaders**

- The respondents in this study seemed to believe that any formal training on how to run an organization was unnecessary and perhaps even harmful. For the most part they were skeptical of graduate programs in administration or nonprofit management and felt what skills were needed could be learned from experience on the job.
- Several of the directors we talked with noted that they had gone back to get an advanced degree for 'the credential'. People of color and young people were more likely to talk about this need.
- The importance of life as well as work experience was noted by several of the younger staff members that were part of the constituencies the organizations served. Young staff members were also more likely to talk about the need to learn more theory about the root causes behind the problems that their work was intended to address.

#### **Race and Gender**

- Race and gender, but especially race, are still subjects that are hard to address, even in social change organizations. Age does not seem to be a determining factor though older white male directors seem to be more on the defensive than their younger counterparts.
- Many of the people of color we interviewed both staff and directors talked about the race dynamics among the different groups that make up the people of color category. For leaders of color, this often meant fighting stereotypes, especially that they were only interested in serving their own race/ethnicity. Older leaders of color were also more likely to talk about how the problems of race in the social change community worsened over in the last twenty years.
- Older and younger white directors and staff answered the questions about the impact of race and gender on leadership in terms of their own organizations efforts to hire and maintain a racially diverse staff. Race was often talked about separate from its relationship to power.
- In general, there was less overt tension around the subject of gender. When asked
  directly, most directors, men and women, thought that gender was not an issue in
  their organization, citing as evidence the number of women working in the
  organization, especially those in leadership positions. However, the staff did not
  always corroborate this response.

#### Future

• Most of the older directors had no intention of leaving their jobs. They often had built their life around their work, and the idea that they would do something else made

little sense to them. They seemed at loss imagining what they would do if they were no longer to run their current organizations.

- Younger directors' ideas about the future were similar to their older peers. Although several were conflicted by a sense that they should move on for the sake of the organization, leaving their position was something that they were clearly in no hurry to do. Like their older counterparts, younger directors talked about the importance of staying with the organization as a place to express their creativity and passion.
- Although they were clearly dedicated to their jobs and to social change, staff members of all ages found it far easier than directors to envision future work outside of their current organization. Their responses ranged from older staff members thinking of retirement, to young people talking about returning to school.
- Staff members who were in their mid-thirties to mid-forties experienced the most conflict. They were in supervisory or administrative jobs, but it was clear that they were not going to have the opportunity to head their current organization, so they struggled with what that meant for their future.

## Summary of Recommendations

# The Generation Gap in Leadership

Among the respondents, it was evident that there was a gap between younger staffers and directors, and current older leadership. Older directors almost never spoke of younger staffers or peers either as people to mentor or nurture, as colleagues, or as future leaders in their organizations. Very few of the younger directors talked about learning from or talking to older peers, instead they learned from the work. If there is a real interest in the continuation of existing social change organizations that sustain and build on existing work, it is not clear how that will happen in any systematic way in light of these findings.

- Older directors could be encouraged and taught how to recognize young leadership from within and outside of their organization. Younger directors could also be encouraged to continue to identify and build new leadership.
- Young people in social change organizations could be encouraged by their directors
  to take on positions of authority and responsibility with support that would give them
  the types of experiences they need to develop their skills.
- Funders could support directors in this endeavor by encouraging organizations to invest in young leaders.

#### *Integration: Work and Personal Life*

The culture of social change work -- never being able to do or give enough -- seemed to be passed on directly or indirectly from one generation to the next. And though this did not cause a problem for everyone, it was painful to see how much some young people --

so dedicated to social justice – were left without guidance or tools for how to solve this very basic dilemma.

- There needs to be serious consideration of how to create manageable jobs that allow time for family life and relaxation. It is important to acknowledge that staff members do derive meaning from their work, and at the same time need to limit the reach work has into every aspect of their life.
- Older directors should spend time with young staff and younger directors to help them strategize ways they can stay in the work while maintaining activities outside.

# Training for New Leaders

Older respondents entered social change work full of political knowledge but without management skills; younger people were often more interested in management but lacked education about the structured causes of problems. Both age groups stressed the lack of relevancy of nonprofit management degrees to *their* type of work. Ironically, without appropriate programs in this area, there is a danger that only those who attend elite institutions of higher education will have the legitimacy needed to be credible leaders of social change organizations, new or old.

- Programs designed to train nonprofit managers need to be questioned about their relevancy to those involved (or interested) in social change work. Management programs should include room for those interested in pursuing a variety of alternative organizational models
- It should be made clear to staff members what pathways will lead to higher leadership positions. These should be realistic and based on examples, and staffers should be given support through scholarships, time off, work/study to pursue these different options.

## Running the Organization

Clearly articulated expectations of staff especially in organizational decision-making is not only helpful in retaining employees, it can also be a fertile ground for training new leadership. Directors need education about the different ways to run organizational decision-making processes.

- Different models of structuring and making decision in social change organizations should be defined to use for training directors and staff.
- There needs to be a clearer understanding of which models work well under what circumstances, as well as what type of person thrives under the different models.
- This type of education should be accompanied by case studies either from the participants or from other organizations. All of these can be used to train staff and to further develop models of decision-making that develop young leaders and support older ones as well.

#### Race, Gender, and Power

Looking to encourage new directors to enter social change work may mean that social change organizations need to look more closely at how they address the issues of race, gender and power within the organization.

- Training in diversity is now commonplace in most of the social change organizations.
  These efforts should continue to be supported, and expanded to include an
  understanding that the numbers of people of color or women alone does not address
  the complex issues related to race and gender.
- Directors of social change organizations should be encouraged to think how addressing the issue of race and gender might help them to identify new potential leaders in the organization.

## Planning for Succession

It appears to be extremely difficult for older directors, even those who are in the process of changing their jobs, to think about working outside of their organizations. Based on their responses, it would not be a surprise if many of the younger leaders became long-term leaders of their organizations and eventually confront some of the same problems as their older peers.

- Structuring exchanges between younger and older leaders could be a useful tool in addressing the growing concern about developing and training strong leadership. In addition, providing places where older directors together are encouraged to think about the future of their organization might help them to discuss these sensitive topics.
- Not addressing succession at all is problematic for both the individuals who have run these organizations for so long and for the staff members who work with them.
- There needs to be a better way to acknowledge and support financially and otherwise older directors who are thinking of leaving their positions. Giving them the respect they deserve for a lifetime of work is extremely important and a good model for emerging leaders of the future.

# Generational Changes and Leadership: Implications For Social Change Organizations

Frances Kunreuther (frances\_kunreuther@havard.edu)

#### Introduction

The Generational Change project was conceived as a way to investigate and understand differences between older and younger people working in progressive social change organizations in the nonprofit sector. The project is a qualitative study of thirty-seven leaders and staff in sixteen nonprofits located in Boston and New York. All of the groups selected for the project were committed to social change, that is, to transforming larger systems that they identified as the cause of problems facing their constituent populations. The people interviewed – older and younger directors<sup>2</sup> and staff – were asked a series of questions that were designed both to identify whether there were differences in attitudes and assumptions between older and younger people working in social change organizations, and to uncover other issues or concerns.

The Generational Change project asked people – directly or indirectly – about these different areas to see how those working in social change organizations fit into these reported trends. The findings of the study seem to refute the notion of large generational differences. However, the responses do indicate that older and younger people working for social change have different needs. This summary will report on nine different areas we explored with those we interviewed: 1) their backgrounds; 2) their views of the work/personal life divide; 3) the things they enjoy about their work; 4) what they find challenging; 5) their reports on how decisions are made within the organization; 6) their views of leadership; 7) the type training leaders need; 8) how they saw issues of race and

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The director is usually the executive director of the organization. In some cases it was one of the codirectors, and in collectives, it was either a founder or someone in the collective chosen to represent the group.

gender; and 9) their thoughts about the future. We also will make recommendations on how both practitioners and researchers might proceed based on these findings.

Contrary to our initial expectations, there were not consistent and sharp differences between older and younger generations, either leaders or staff. What the project did uncover were the pathways, or lack thereof, for dedicated younger staff to become leaders in organizations, especially those run by older directors. It became clear for those groups in the study, that training for and assuming leadership of a social change organization was a difficult road for a young person to follow, even for those who had been successful. The findings also point to how the organizational context in which people worked, that is, the structure and history of the organization, has a significant affect on the way older and younger leaders and staff operate within those organizations. As a result, information such as to whom the current leader was accountable; whether the organization reflected the leader's vision for change or a larger vision built with the board, staff and/or constituents; and the reasons funders invested in the group may all turn out to be extremely important. The findings of the study point to the need for us to understand the way these organizations operate as well as the people drawn to leading them, in order to have a significant impact on recruiting and maintaining the next generation of leaders.

# **Background**

In 1991, Douglas Coupland's novel, *Generation X* created a sensation as it described a post-Baby Boomer generation whose values and interests were highly divergent from those that preceded them. Distinguishing themselves from the Baby-Boomer generation (born between 1946 and 1964), GenXers (born between 1965 and 1979) claimed to have a different attitude and orientation towards work and life.

The release of Coupland's book marked the beginning of a proliferation of books, magazine and newspaper articles, websites and discussions devoted to generational differences. (for example, Levin, 2001; Filipczak, Raines, and Zemke, 2000; Jurkiewicz 2000; Bagley, 1998; Bennett and Rademacher, 1997; Tulgan, 1996; Strauss and Howe, 1993, 1991; Ratan, 1993) GenXers are often characterized as "slackers" (Filipczak et. al.,

Tulgan) materialistic (Halstead, 1999, Hornblower,1997); independent (Filipczak et. al., Tulgan); technologically savvy (Filipczak et. al., Tulgan); adverse to micromanagement (Lancaster, Lynne and Stillman, 2002; Tuglan); distrustful of government and traditional institutions (Hornblower; Tulgan); less loyal to a specific workplace (Lancaster et. al.; Tuglan); and interested in spending less time at work without giving up a high standard of living (Filipczak et. al.). Various speculative explanations were offered for these characteristics, such as less parental involvement and supervision while growing up -- making them strongly independent and self-reliant --; rejection of their parents' dedication and hard work that resulted in ruthless job cuts -- causing Xers to lack of loyalty to organizations and place more emphasis on work/personal life balance--; and exposure to technology at an earlier age -- resulting in the Xers' techno-savvy approach and preference for getting things done quickly (Filipczak et. al.; Lancaster et. al., 2002; Tuglan). However, despite these and a host of other assertions about GenX and now, Generation Y, there was little research evidence that supported or refuted these claims.

A brief look at some of the available survey data sheds some light on the reports in the popular literature. A survey conducted by Catalyst of New York showed Gen X's attitudes about work to be contrary to those proposed in the literature. (Catalyst, 2001) Of 1263 Gen Xers, 85% reported to care about the fate of their organization and 83% stated a willingness to put in a great deal of effort beyond what is normally expected in order to help their organizations.

The General Social Survey (GSS) was revealing in exploring the differences between the generations suggested in the literature. (General Social Survey, 1972-2000) GSS asked 'Baby Boomers' and 'Gen Xers' questions about their work values and behaviors and the data show remarkably little difference between the generations in relation to their attitude and habits at work.<sup>3</sup> For example, the GSS data reports that 2.4% of the Gen Xers and

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The age ranges used to define the Baby Boomer generation and Generation X reflect definitions found in the literature. In our study, the older directors and staff members tended to be slightly older than the referenced "Baby Boomer", however, adjusting the statistics for that difference reveals no notable difference in the responses.

2% of the Baby Boomers surveyed responded that short working hours was the most important aspect of a job. The survey also found that 24.4% of Gen Xers and 24.5% of Baby Boomers said that high income was most important. Gen Xers confirmed their willingness to work harder that necessary to help their organizations, despite current lore to the contrary. In fact 90.3% said they strongly agree or agree that they are willing to work harder than is necessary, a number almost identical to – and even slightly *greater* – than the Boomers' 89.1%. Data on job satisfaction showed that 45% of the Baby Boomers surveyed reported themselves to be very satisfied with their current job, with Gen Xers at only a slightly lower figure of 42.3%. Furthermore, in 1983, when the Boomer generation was approximately the same age as the Gen Xers, only 36.1% of the Boomers reported they were very satisfied in their jobs. This suggests that differences in job satisfaction between the two generations could be attributed to a life-stage/cycle phenomenon rather than generational difference.

Other data sets yielded similar results. For example, in 1997 the Labor Day Survey by Princeton Survey Research Associates (Princeton Research Associates, 1997) showed that 49% of the Gen Xers and 51% of the Baby Boomers interviewed reported that in conflicts between work responsibilities and family responsibilities, their families suffer more.

Differences did appear in some surveys, but not always in ways described by the popular literature. For example, the results of *Time* magazine's 1997 survey revealed that 48% of Gen Xers thought that it was a good time to cut back on work hours to spend more time with family, compared to 58% of the Boomers. (Time, C.N.N. and Yankelovich Partners, 1997) In 1997 the Virginia Slims American Women's Survey conducted by the Roper Center found that 39% of Gen X men responded that their work was a "career" than "just a job" compared to 65% of the male Baby Boomers. The statistics, however, look different for women: 32% of the Gen X women and 47% of the Baby Boom women considered that their work was a career, suggesting, in addition to the generation gap, there are also differences between the genders. (Virginia Slims American Women's Opinion Poll, 1995)

An interesting findings appears in Radcliffe Public Policy Center's Life's Work survey: 82% of males aged 20-39 ranked "having a work schedule which allows me to spend time with my family" as the most important characteristic of a job, versus 67.5% of their baby boom counterpart. (Radcliffe Public Policy Center, 2001) In addition, 70% of Gen X men said they want to spend more time with their families and would be willing to sacrifice pay to do so. This particular finding came through in this study as well, indicating that the popular assumption that Generation X is more concerned with balancing work and personal life is in fact true. And yet, Generation X still reports far less success in achieving this balance. The Virginia Slims survey reported that only 26% of female and 25% male Gen Xers feel strongly that they do a good job balancing work and family, whereas of 36% of women ages 40-59 and 42.5% of men ages 40-59 feel strongly that they do.

The data raise questions about the role of life-cycle and gender difference, and perhaps also a difference in *meaning attached to work* between the generations. Karl Mannheim (1952) argued that generations are "indispensable guides to an understanding of the structure of social and intellectual movements." He also noted that sharing "location" alone does not ensure a common outlook or participation in a common destiny. Mannheim distinguishes between a generation and "generation unit". A generation unit, according to Mannheim, represents a more concrete bond formed through shared mental data, fundamental attitudes, and responses, all of which transcend the "biological rhythm of birth and death" and historical co-presence. Such bonds may be unconscious or intentional. Viewed in this manner, any generation is comprised of different, and perhaps opposing, generation units. Mannheim claims that these distinctions are important, because otherwise purely biological data may be used to generalize and gloss over more complex social and cultural forces and subtleties.

In light of this, one might question the appropriateness of applying the characteristics of "Generation X" across an entire birth cohort. Indeed, if one examines more closely the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> An argument proposed by the study's Research Assistant, Curtis Ogden, an Xer.

targets and creators of this label, a more fractured picture emerges. Andrew Levy (1994) writes that the term "Generation X" is most appropriately applied to white people, and not necessarily to African American, Latino, and other non-white ethnic and cultural groups who would not identify with its popularly defined characteristics. Anthropologist Beth Kaminow agrees that Generation X is a "temporal subculture" defined more by "social signs" than by birth years. She suggests that "Gen X" as a subculture tends to be mostly white, from middle and upper-middle class backgrounds, and encompasses certain social or sub-cultural practices, including an affinity for technology and Gothic style of clothing. (Kaminow, 1999, Strauss and Howe, 1991) Kaminow wrote that people who self-identify as Generation X are to be considered most seriously as members. Similarly, Strauss and Howe point to "awareness of generational membership" as a key to shaping a boundary cohort, both in terms of where it is at any given moment, and where it expects to go.

Thompson, Clark and Gunn Jr. (1985) suggest that understanding generational differences or attributes may be further complicated by life or developmental stage, or by lineage position. For example, they note that parents often perceive greater continuity of attitudes across generations than do their children, perhaps due to the fact that parents have a greater stake in maintaining these cross-generational relationships. This therefore raises some questions about the *source* of stated generational differences.

The nonprofit sector literature on difference between Generation X and Baby Boomers is more focused on civic engagement than on organizational leadership. For example, Goss (1999) has shown that rates of volunteering have remained constant since 1975, a fact that she attributes to the increase in time given by older volunteers rather than the entry of new and younger volunteers. The participation of younger people - --especially Generation X -- in volunteer activities is highlighted in a study done for Public Allies and the Surdna Foundation. The study found high rates of volunteer activity among those aged 18 –30, but low rates of political involvement. (Hart, 1998) Another study of civic and political involvement had a similar finding, showing Generation X less likely to vote than Baby Boomers and other older cohorts. (Keeter, Zukin, Andolina, and Jenkins,

2002) Younger cohorts' civic activities also are reported to be more focused on changing individuals than institutions. (Hart 1998; Mesch, Tschirhart, Perry and Lee, 1998)

One exception to these studies is the work of Onyx and Maclean (1996) who looked at motivation among paid nonprofit staff in Australia. They found younger workers were more likely to have a political and/or philosophical commitment to their work, where older workers were motivated by religious beliefs. Across generations, workers were unlikely to be motivated by prestige and over 80% preferred working in teams where they can participate in the decisions made by the organization. In addition, Nazy'at and Baily (1999) speculate that young staff and constituents in community based organizations lack Baby Boomer mentors.

# Methodology

#### **METHODS**

In keeping with the aims of this research project—to explore the ways in which generational differences might be interacting with leadership transition in social change organizations—the study relied on qualitative methods of data-collection and analysis. Respondents were selected based on theoretically relevant characteristics, including their organizational contexts, rather than for statistical generalizability. Most of the data were gathered through in-depth, semi-structured interviews in which respondents were guided but not constrained by a set of open-ended questions. Interviews were conducted by project staff members (three women, two of whom are women of color) at the respondent's organization. Interviews ran between 50 and 180 minutes in length and were tape-recorded.

Additional data on the organizations were gathered from a variety of sources, including agency documents, websites, and informational forms completed by agency respondents. Interview transcripts were analyzed for content relating to the original research questions and for themes emerging from the respondents' accounts of their experience. The analysis was conducted using QSR N-Vivo, a computer program designed for qualitative-data analysis.

# **Sample Selection**

Given the project's motivating questions, the data collection plan was designed to gather information on the experiences and attitudes primarily of older leaders and younger staff members in social change organizations. But if the sample were limited to these two groups, there would be no way to disentangle differences associated with organizational

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A copy of the topic guide may be found in Appendix C

position from those relating to age. For purposes of comparison, then, the total sample also included younger leaders as well as staff members in their organizations.

Because race and gender had been identified (through discussions and literature review) as potentially important factors affecting leadership style and succession, the design called for diversity among respondents on these dimensions as well as on age. In addition, certain organizational characteristics—such as location, size, age, and nature of activity—were expected to be relevant to the study concerns. The combination of respondent characteristics with organizational features informed the design of our intended sample, which included the following objectives:

- variation by city, in this case, approximately half of the organizations in Boston and half in New York;
- variation by nature of principal activity, categorized as advocacy, service, and organizing, with roughly one third of the organizations in each category;
- all organizations would be small to-mid-sized, ideally with staffs of at least 5 people and no more than 40, and annual budgets between \$300,000 and \$2,000,000;
- most leaders would be in "established" organizations –i.e., in existence roughly 10 years or more, but a small sample would be young entrepreneurs–i.e., young founders of organizations in existence less than 10 years;
- half or more of the leaders would be older (over 45) and the rest younger;
   they would be diverse in terms of gender and race;
- the second respondent in each organization would be a young staff member who could have leadership responsibilities or be in line for such responsibilities.

The initial plan was to identify 18 agencies—half in Boston, half in New York, evenly divided among the three activity categories—in which we could locate appropriate respondents. We began by developing a comprehensive list of possible organizations,

gathering data on their leadership and other characteristics. We approached 18 organizations for possible inclusion in the study; 16 ultimately agreed to participate.

The final sample deviated from the initial design in certain respects—for example, several organizations had budgets higher than the original limit and some "established" organizations were younger than 10 years old. (See Table 1, Appendix D, for characteristics of the final group of organizations in which respondents were located; note that data are incomplete for three organizations.) As planned, though, the agencies ranged in size from small (staff size 4 or less; smallest annual budget \$76,848) to medium-sized (the largest had a staff of 49 people with a budget of \$3.3 million); the median number of staff members was 14 and the median budget roughly \$1.5 million. Though the oldest agency had been in existence for over a hundred years, the median organizational age was 18 years, with five agencies in existence less than a decade. As intended, slightly over half of the single-director agencies were headed by older leaders (ages 45-69). Of the two agencies with co-leaders/collective members, one was led by younger people and the other by a mixed-age team.

The organizations were diverse in many respects. Most had predominantly female staffs (the median percent male was only 30%), though three were about half male. People of color were also heavily represented among agency staffs: The median figure for the proportion of the staff that was white was only 27%, and only four agencies had staffs that were predominantly white (53%-92% white). Agency directors were somewhat more likely to be white (of organizations headed by a single director, over half had a white leader). Compared to staff members, directors were disproportionately male (about 64% of agencies with a single director had a male leader). Organizational activities were highly varied, including providing legal assistance for minority communities, organizing

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Because this was an exploratory study, the sample was constructed to include considerable diversity (along a variety of dimensions), and not to reflect the composition of social change organizations as a whole. The data gathered in this study shed light on the problem of leadership in social change non-profits and raise interesting questions for further study, but should not be used to draw conclusions about all social change non-profit organizations.

and serving poor women, educating and advocating for youth, and doing community-based development and organizing, among others.

For purposes of understanding the context in which our respondents worked, it is relevant to note that organizations headed by younger leaders were different, on average, from those headed by older leaders.<sup>7</sup> Older leaders tended to head larger, older agencies: The median age of these agencies was 21 years (none was younger than 10 years old), median budget \$2,150,000 (the smallest was \$325,000), and median staff size 21 (smallest 4). By contrast, organizations headed by younger leaders had a median age of 8 years (two-thirds were less than 10 years old), a median annual budget of \$1,174,000, and a median staff size of 14. The staff demographics between the two groups of agencies were similar for gender (median about 30% male) but slightly different for race: The median percent white was 26% in agencies with younger leaders, versus a median figure of 31% white among older-leaders' agencies.

The agencies headed by our respondents of color had, on average, smaller staffs (median 14 versus 21) and somewhat smaller budgets (median \$1.4 million versus \$1.9 million) than the agencies headed by white respondents. Most notably, though, agencies headed by people of color had staffs that were considerably less white (23% median versus 49% median among agencies headed by whites) and somewhat less male (27% median versus 35% median). Agencies headed by women were roughly the same age and size (in terms of budget) on average as those headed by men, though the staff size in women's agencies was larger. Median staff demographic figures were similar across these two sets of agencies (about 30% male and roughly 30% white for each group).

The primary selection of respondents was on the basis of leader and organizational characteristics. Table 2, Appendix E, gives some basic demographic characteristics of the respondents by organizational position and age group. Thirteen respondents were single directors of established organizations (i.e., organizations that had been in existence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>These observations are based on organizations that had a single director, 14 of the 16 organizations in which interviews were conducted.

over ten years, or in one case, an organization that was younger but not founded by the current leader). Of this group, nine were older (ages 45-69) and four were younger (ages 27-36). Two of our interviewees were members of a self-described collective and therefore not categorized as single leaders; one of these was older (54) and one younger (32). Finally, in accord with our plan to talk to young people who had established their own organizations rather than assuming leadership in an existing non-profit, we interviewed four young "entrepreneurs"—one of whom (at 41) was slightly older than the other young leaders. In the analysis that follows, this entrepreneurial group is usually included within the general category of "younger leaders." Where they differed in ways relevant to the analysis, they are identified as a separate group.

It is also noteworthy that several of our older leaders were founders of their organizations, which gave them a particularly strong connection to the organization and undoubtedly shaped their views on the questions we asked. Of the nine older, single leaders, five were founders and one had been with the organization for most of its life (over 20 years, far longer than anyone else in the organization). The analysis of the general category of older leaders reported below is thus strongly influenced by the founder roles most of them occupied.

Of the total of 19 leaders interviewed, roughly one-quarter fell into each of the four race/gender categories (women of color, men of color, white women, white men). The ten older leaders were evenly divided by race (half whites, half people of color) and gender. Slightly more of the older leaders of color were female and slightly more of the older whites were male. Among younger leaders, five of the nine were people of color and five were men. Here the whites included two men and two women, the people of color three men and two women. Finally, it should be noted that three of the four coleaders/collective members were women, and three of the four were people of color, so among single leaders the proportions of men and whites were higher than among all leaders.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>As noted on Table 2, two of these were associated with the same organization: One was the recently retired director and the other newly hired.

Once a leader had been interviewed, he or she was asked to identify a younger staff member with some responsibility who could represent a different view of the organization. We followed up on these referrals and arranged interviews with the designated staff members. On conducting the second set of interviews we learned that several of the staff respondents were older than we had intended for this part of the study sample (the intent was to interview staffers under the age of 35). In most cases, the staff members in question were only slightly older (still members of Generation X), but in a few cases were old enough to be members of the Baby Boom generation. To learn as much as possible about the organizations, we went ahead with all these interviews, and in addition, in some organizations we conducted a third interview to ensure adequate representation of the very youngest staff members in our sample. 10 As shown on Table 2, of the 19 staff members we interviewed, eleven were ages 21-34, five were slightly older members of the younger generation (36-42), and three were old enough to be considered part of the Baby Boom generation (50-62). All of the staff respondents aged 35 and over had significant responsibility within the organization. Among the youngest respondents there was more variation on this dimension, but most did have some autonomy and/or responsibility in their work.

The inclusion of a range of ages among staff members turned out to be revealing in several ways. Interviews with the oldest staff members allowed us to investigate the phenomenon of a leader preparing to leave an organization by bringing in a second-incommand who was much closer in age to herself than to younger staff members. Interviews with the older members of Generation X provided a perspective on the organizations that was quite different from the views of either the leaders or the youngest

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>When asking for the name of another person to interview, we tried to indicate that we wanted to talk to someone who had some responsibility in the organization, to distinguish potential next-generation leaders from other staff members. It may have been this framing of the request that led some leaders to refer us to somewhat older staff members than we were seeking.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>We were able to obtain interviews with staff members under age 35 in all but three of the organizations, and even in these cases, the youngest staff member interviewed was still a member of Generation X, albeit at the older end (they fell into the 37-42 age range).

staff members. Some of the nuances of generational differences, and differences within generations, will be explored in the text that follows.

Finally, in terms of the demographic characteristics of the staff respondents, almost twothirds were people of color and the same proportion were women. These proportions did not vary significantly across the age groups within the staff respondents, except for the lower proportion of people of color among the oldest staff members (two of the three were white).

# **Findings**

#### 1. Background of Respondents

Kay, now in her mid fifties, began working in an exciting time. <sup>11</sup> The civil rights, women's, anti-war/peace, environmental and other movements were changing the world. In her early thirties, Kay left her job to start her own research organization and persuaded a colleague to come work with her. That was the beginning. She started the organization to make a contribution toward a better society, a more democratic society, a society that would support values of justice and give hope to those who had been ignored and underserved. In its first few years, the organization operated on a shoestring budget, but gradually it grew both in size and stature. Kay laughs when she talks about how she only thought the work would last five years. After dedicating so many years to building and sustaining the organization, Kay is trying to change her role. She is letting go of the management so she can pursue some of her own interests. As she reduces her involvement in the daily operations, she worries if the organization will survive intact, that is, keeping the principles and values she worked so hard to maintain over the past two decades.

Gary was introduced to his organization, Stop Hate, when he decided to volunteer during his sophomore year of college. It was a fledgling group, but Gary was so taken by the work, that he started spending more and more time developing and promoting the organization. He continued to go to school accumulating incompletes, and looking for support for his work. He became director while completing first his bachelor's and then a master's degree.

Gary's interest in Stop Hate was not simply based on altruism. His own childhood experiences were a large part of his motivation to help others who found themselves in similar situations. Driven and entrepreneurial, Gary – now in his late twenties -- has continued to grow the organization. He has placed several of his former professors on the board of directors, and has used their expertise for everything from management to business planning. As he continues to develop the vision of the organization, Gary talks about several important decisions he will need to make in the next few years. He believes that once he navigates the organization through this next set of challenges, he will think more about what he might do next.

Like Kay, older directors and staff were heavily influenced by the political events and prevailing attitudes of the 1960s and 1970s. Younger respondents did not have the exposure to a culture of change in the same way. Younger respondents were more likely

15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> To preserve the anonymity of the respondents and their organizations, the some of the personal details of the respondent and the organization have been altered with the intent of keeping the integrity of the information.

to refer to their personal motivation for becoming involved in their organization. For many, their interest was often motivated by personal experience combined with a strong sense of social justice, and as Gary demonstrates, a lot of hard work.

# Older Directors: Life Changing Movements

For many people who grew up in the 1960s and 1970s, the nonprofit sector was a burgeoning new frontier. Government money was funding Model Cities and a host of anti-poverty programs, foundations were supporting demonstration projects to address social problems, and there was a prevailing optimism that going into nonprofit work was a way to have a real impact on the world. So it was not surprising that older directors and staff often mentioned the influence of growing up in this period.

For many of those we interviewed, the political context of the time catapulted them into social change organizations. Older directors and staff often described their involvement in the social movements of this era as an *educational process* that resulted in the desire to work in an organization where they could, 'change the world.' They often referred to their exposure to ideas and situations that unveiled the 'causes' of the problems facing society. For example, an older male respondent had grown up in white working class neighborhood in the Midwest. He credits his exposure to the politics of the neighborhood in teaching him a life lesson about the importance and uses of power to make significant social change. In his teens, he heard Martin Luther King speak and was part of a religious youth group that was addressing the issues of civil rights. He explained,

And to see the civil rights movement was a stunning thing for a person, sixteen, and you're watching this, because on one side, you're in this white area right across from a black area. So, you've never seen what life is like in another community. Nor had black kids seen what life was like in our area. And, for the most part, neither of us wanted to. But these were eye-opening experiences, none of which were to my credit. I mean, I just happened to get dragged along.

Several other people we interviewed who were fifty or older described similar experiences ranging from their exposure to liberation theology to joining the anti-war

movement in college. All of the events took place while this cohort was in their teenage or young adult years. The impact was, to them, unforgettable as it put them on a life course to the organizations they now work in and in some cases lead. The importance of these external events provided a context, an education for those who entered and stayed in these organizations. It gave the older interviewees a belief that there was something that they could do to contribute to the overall climate of change.

# Nonprofit (and Founder) for Life

None of the older respondents in the study mentioned any significant job they had ever held outside of the nonprofit sector, and few seemed to have even considered other alternatives. 12 This group began their work in social change nonprofits at an early age and they stayed, often in the same organization.

It is probably significant that of the ten older directors we interviewed, eight had been with their organization more than a decade, and five had founded their organization. They often had similar stories. Many of the older directors saw themselves as visionaries whose organizations had grown around them, and they had to learn how to manage that growth. Kay talked about this when she described how this happened in her case.

I was not ambitious to start a larger organization at all. I imagined this to be a small effort. ... It all started on a shoestring, and I was able to raise enough money to keep us going. I think our budget for the first couple of years was about \$80 or \$90,000.

# Younger Cohorts: Personal Experience

Younger respondents – both directors and staff – often described their background and interest in social change work based on their own personal experiences or what they witnessed happened to people like them. They were aware that they had *not* been involved in the movement era of the 1960s/1970s, although there were some who referred to participating in their own activities especially on college campuses, such as the anti-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> We did not probe all the details of the respondents' background, so we are not sure how many may have had some experiences having worked in for-profits.

apartheid or anti-sweatshop movements. A few of the younger directors talked about how their parents' experiences had influenced them. Overall, however, younger respondents usually described their interest in social change work as a result of individual experiences or from a desire to work with 'their own' community. They were far more likely to refer to their *personal* connection as a motivation to enter into social change work than older respondents who described how the *education* they had received about injustice in the world brought them into the field.

So, for example, Gary talked about his commitment to the organization he runs as a result of his own background,

I experienced a significant amount of violence growing up as a kid. And like a lot of people who experience violence, I was a really angry kid...I took this anger and directed it towards organizing.

There were others who also mentioned very specific personal or family related motivations. As one young staff member noted,

We [our family] were always struggling ... and I always had an affinity for politics and legal issues and just sort of thought a lot about justice, economic justice in particular because of my own personal experiences with economic justice or lack thereof.

Some of the younger respondents joined social change organizations to find more meaning in their life. A staff member in her mid-thirties described how she had nursed her mother through a long and painful death. She then quit her corporate job to find a position where she could work with women and children. As she describes it, she was looking for a place where she could express her spiritual side.

Recognizing the importance of personal experience turned out to be a way that younger directors were able to identify and recruit new staff. Younger staff often described how a younger director had listened to their stories, brought them into the work and found ways to integrate their experiences and skills into the organization. For example, a twenty-

three year old staffer who had grown up in the neighborhood that the organization served, explained how a local priest introduced him to the co-directors,

I told them about basically that I want to start a gay and lesbian group for gay youth, gay adults, and that, I mean, I never had any experience in organizing, never, nothing in organizing, and they just, they basically opened up their arms and said, 'Yeah, come in with us, and we'll teach you, we'll give you training.'

The organization's directors then helped him join AmeriCorps, placing him in their organization. When he completed his AmeriCorps stint, he was hired as the office manager, and he continues to run his gay and lesbian group. This young respondent had a personal interest that brought him into contact with the organization. He also needed a type of training and support that not all organizations were able to give. He observed,

I mean, we all need support in out lives. I mean, frankly, I didn't know a freaking lawyer in my life or a teacher you know... And then I met a lot of people in this organization that are.

# Younger Directors: Validation

Overall, younger leaders were more likely to talk about personal experiences but they were also more likely to have a history – spoken or unspoken – that legitimized them in their current positions. Unlike older respondents, younger directors were much more likely to talk about the value of learning from the for-profit world and referenced their own work history in business. One twenty-seven year old director mentioned throughout the interview the positive impact his business training and experience had in both his being selected for the position and running the organization. Another director in her early thirties reported on how she had worked her way up to executive director after starting as an advocate in her field. However, she was convinced that her background in marketing had given her the added skills that made her a desirable candidate for the director's position.

Just as significant was the unexpected finding that of the seven directors under forty, all but one told us in the interview that they had attended an elite college or university. Most referred to this fact in passing, but one director who had grown up in the Midwest told us,

But you know, what Harvard gave me was tremendous privilege... If I'd gone to Ohio State, I wouldn't be here. And I don't take that lightly.

So, in addition to their personal experiences, younger directors found ways to convince themselves and others of their *ability and credibility* to jumpstart their careers as leaders of social change organizations.

Older directors did not mention the ways that they were legitimated in their work, perhaps because so many of their peers were entering into the nonprofit sector at the same time with a similar level (or lack of) skill. Younger people interested in leadership positions in social change nonprofits are competing with far more existing organizations in a climate where government support is far reduced. They may be more likely to come with educational and/or business skills that allow them to convince funders and other supporters of the validity of their vision and their ability to implement it.

# Movement for the Next Generation: The Organization

The different backgrounds of the respondents are important reminders that context matters. Even though both age groups were extremely committed to their work, their pathways towards involvement differed. The tendency for younger directors and staff to enter into social change work based on personal experience or identification with the constituent community led to an interesting phenomenon. For many of them, it was their participation in the organization that provided them with the tools for a systemic understanding and analysis of the issues they faced. Where older respondents joined or started social change organizations as a result of a kind of 'political education,' younger people were more likely to receive that education as a result of their work in the organization. One young staffer put it this way,

I always knew growing up that different people were treated differently, because of the color of their skin or of who they were, whether they were female or male ... I would be aware of this, but not as much as in a social context. That obviously I had to develop, had to figure out -- how systems work and institutions work.

That was something I really came to be passionate about...I feel a lot of me has grown up here at [the organization].

There are also two interesting observations about younger staff entering social change organizations today. First, there were several examples where younger directors were able to *recruit and support* staff that they felt had long-term potential with the organization. There may be several reasons for this. Younger staff may simply be 'closer to the ground' or they may understand better the importance of how to recruit people based on personal experiences or they may have more interest in recruiting new and different types of staff. Second, many younger staff could benefit from a systematic education program about the issues they are addressing once they enter the organization, that is, to find ways to take their personal experiences to help them understand the larger systemic issues. This was already taking place in some of the organizations in the study, but often in an ad hoc rather than a consciously thought out way.

Despite the different backgrounds of those working in social change organizations, the quality and intensity of the commitment was strikingly similar as can be seen in the sections that follow.

# 2. Work/Personal Life Divide

One of the common themes in the popular literature on generational differences at work in corporate settings is the claim that Generations X and Y are reported to 'work to live' whereas Baby Boomers 'live to work'. To find out more about this issue, respondents were asked to talk about the work/personal life continuum.

The story that emerged was not nearly as simple as the literature had led us to believe. Older respondents for the most part did talk about the deep significance their work had in their life. In many cases, this led to long hours at the job, especially with founders and long-term directors. However, there were other older respondents that kept a strict work/personal life divide, leaving work at five and spending a significant amount of time with activities outside of the job whether it was family or traveling or pursuing other interests.

Just as striking was the fact that *all* of the younger directors and many of the young staff members were also putting in long hours. They, too, talked about the importance of their work in their life. The difference, however, was that several of the younger respondents were actively struggling with how they were going to address the challenge of keeping their commitment to their work while making room for other important parts of their life, especially having a family.

The interviews indicate either there is a *life cycle issue*, that is older respondents have already worked out work/personal life conflicts and that younger respondents will find a similar resolution over time, or there is a *generational difference* in which older leaders were less conflicted when they were young about the need to balance time at work with personal time. In either case, the example below gives some indication of how one younger staff member and the older director in the same organization report on the work/personal life divide.

# Loving or Living for the Job

Eric is in his mid-thirties and has been a loyal employee at UFS for over ten years. He loves his job and has clearly found a mentor in the organization's founder/executive director. He is proud to be part of an organization that believes in staff dedicating themselves to the needs of the constituents. He explains, "There's a culture here. You do everything."

However, it also clear to Eric that these demands have had other repercussions. He explains how many staffers have either turned down job offers or left the organization because they do not feel they can be available day and night. He is especially focused now on those who left for family reasons, maybe because Eric himself is struggling with how to stay in the organization and start his own family. There are several times in the conversation that Eric refers to the conflicts he feels about wanting to have children and still meet the demands of the job. Up to this point, Eric has made the choice to have work absorb most of his life. He notes what he has given up (exercising, free time), but as he puts it, when he was younger it was not such a big issue. Now, he doesn't know how to reconcile the work/personal life split that he anticipates. He is keenly aware of how much time the founder gives to work. And despite how closely they work together, Eric doesn't mention discussing this dilemma with the founder. He talks about it as something he needs to work out himself.

UFS' founder/director, Tony, has been in this field for all of his adult life. Now in his fifties, he is happy with the organization he started over ten years ago, a labor of love. His wife has worked with him in developing UFS and now that their children are teenagers, she is an employee. Tony points out that when their children were small, his wife was more focused on their home life, noting the amount of time and energy they required.

Tony presents work as one of many interests in his life. He is a musician, he likes to spend time with friends, and he enjoys just doing nothing. But despite these other interests, Tony refers back to the commitment his work requires. He points out how he used to work longer hours, averaging eighty a week. He has tried to cut down but adds that he has to work these hours for the big events sponsored by the organization every year.

Despite the long hours, Tony does not seem the least bit worried about his work/personal life divide. It is clear that the organization is what Tony loves to do even if he loves other things as well. If there were once conflicts about the amount of time his work demands, they do not seem to be present at the moment. In fact, the organization is both an expression of how Tony views the world and the ways he feels he can help change it. As Eric points out in his interview, Tony is intensely driven, both by his love for the work and the belief that he has figured out a method that makes a real difference in the lives of their constituents. Maybe that is why Tony sees himself in the job for at least another ten years, and then he hopes to be able to continue the work in some way while he writes about and trains people in this methodology.

Both Tony, the older founder/director and Eric, the younger staff member have a deep commitment to their work, and Eric clearly holds Tony in high esteem. So why does Eric's future work/personal life balance appear to be so unresolved, especially in an organization where use of a participatory process of decision-making and conflict resolution is a primary goal?

It may be that both Tony and Eric believe that there is no resolution. It's not clear whether Tony was conflicted at a similar age. We don't know if Eric expects to do more with his children while they are young than Tony, or if the conflict he anticipates will even be realized. Given their relationship, it is surprising that Eric does not appear to be looking to Tony for help. Maybe Eric has tried and it hasn't worked, or maybe he thinks he should figure it out on his own, or maybe he doesn't trust that Tony knows how to help him in this instance.

These interviews point out how the issue of the work/personal life divide is not simply a generational difference in the commitment toward work or an organization, but more a difference in the commitments younger people have or anticipate having outside of work. What the literature misses is the *deep conflict that younger staff or directors may feel when they have to make work/personal life choices*. It also points out that many older directors and staff may lack the capacity needed to help younger people navigate this rocky terrain.

The case of Tony and Eric was not unusual in the study. Older directors and staff talked freely about the deep importance of their work in their lives, and it was clear that their sense of identity was intertwined with the job. The fact that many do not seem able to imagine it another way may be a serious issue for a younger generation that is struggling for an expanded meaning that includes life choices outside of the job.

For so many of the older directors, the job has become essential. One respondent explained, "it is my life...It's integral to my life. If I weren't doing this, I'd be doing

something else quite similar.," and another told us, "The mission of [the organization] is the mission of my life. So it's totally consuming for me," and another reported, "all I do is work. Everything's integrated into my work. Work, personal, there's no distinction." And another, noted, "I think it defines in large part what I do, who I am."

Yet most of the older people we interviewed seemed to have resolved the tensions between their work and their personal lives. Some found a partner with a similar life style, some limited their time at work, some had families that supported their commitment, some integrated their personal lives into their work, and some did not have a personal life and were only committed to their work. Clearly people who could not reconcile this tension left the directorship or other leadership positions, or decided not to opt for these positions in the first place.

It was not as if there had been *no* conflict, but most had reached a solution. A long-time executive director whose children are now grown had recently taken a new position. She was committed to spending more personal time with her husband and commented,

I think I can see it [the job] consuming a good two-thirds of my life. I really think that. I'm going to try to hold it there if I can. As it turns out, the coincidence of my husband being a cultural and community worker is somewhat helpful... I think that we both have energy and commitment for our own work and putting as much into it as possible.

# Drawing the Line

between business and personal? In this line of work there really, unlike many other lines of work [where] there's a clear line between what you do after work and what you do during work, and here the lines are all blurred. I think that is the greatest challenge. [Pause] Yeah, there's nowhere to draw the line.

Finding balance. Balance with personal, spiritual, business. Is there a difference

25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> One respondent whose life work is dedicated to the mission of the organization was part of a religious order.

The interviews with younger directors and staff members revealed how many are on a path similar to older directors. All of the young directors and many young staffers spent long hours at the job and the work itself consumed an enormous amount of energy. Even though they had worked far fewer years in the field, they spoke with the same sense of commitment and dedication as the older respondents. For example, one thirty-seven year old director told the interviewer, "I didn't expect that I would have a career. [Laughter] I don't. I see this as my life commitment. I don't see it as a job. If you see it as a job, it would be very sad." However, this director also explained how she would have to leave the job within the next two years to spend more time with her children. She talked about the systemic problem of running a nonprofit and raising a family,

I think this is something applied to the nonprofit world, how can you support the executive staff to juggle with their own personal life. Because it's a very demanding job. Sometimes I don't see my kids in two days ...So I think my question with other colleagues in this field is, the demanding job, how [will] the nonprofit world support this?

What is it about these social change jobs that compel people to work so hard with so little obvious support? In a time when the literature claims Gen X is looking for more time outside of work and has less loyalty to the job, what is it about these organizations that inspire such commitment? Part of the answer may be found in the meaning younger people find in these organizations. For example, one young staffer found himself in a similar position as Eric, planning to have children and tormented about the consequences for his work. The irony is he works in an organization where the older director leaves every day at 5:00 pm. He explained,

I can't keep twelve-hour days forever... I think that this place is very understanding and incredibly flexible and incredibly respectful of people's lives outside of work. I don't know how good *I* am at that balance. [emphasis added] Later he goes on to say,

I would love to have this job for the rest of my life. I don't know if that's going to be possible.

What is striking in this respondent's comments is how this job has inspired such love. Perhaps because of this strong attachment, he is unable to imagine how he could spend more time outside of work and keep his job. His director either is unaware of this issue or appears not to have offered him help. So this staffer, who wants nothing more than to stay, may have to leave.

It is important to point out that not all the respondents faced this conflict. There were some young staffers, especially two right out of college, who clearly limited their time on the job. There were also examples of older directors who set strong limits on their time at work and felt little conflict about it. One older director who had been with the same national organization for over two decades emphasized how his work *was* a job,

I entered organizing not because I thought it was a religious calling. I thought it was a good, interesting career. I thought it was a good job...I hoped it would be something that would be meaningful and satisfying and I can make a living at that would allow me to have a normal life and raise a family, because those were real important to me. So, that has proven to be the case.

However, it was the older member of a collective that expressed how the work/personal life divide played out for most of the respondents.

Oh, it's all encompassing. [Laugher] And it's certainly one of the most important things in my life. I don't know. To me, it supports my whole concept of family. But I think my family's the most important part of my life. And in order for me to be able to take care of my family, I have to be an activist that encourages everybody to think about everybody's family and how important that is. [Laugher] And so I see it as supporting everything I do.

## Implications: Work/Personal Life and Social Change

The claim that Gen X and Gen Y have different attitudes towards the work/personal life divide may be true for those working in social change organizations, but the responses in this study indicate that they are not necessarily based on a different attitude towards work. In fact, for younger staff and directors, the job seemed to provide a sense of

meaning, a sense of responsibility to those they served, a sense of family with other staff, and a sense of identity through the job.

There are several reasons why this might be the case. It may be that for Baby Boomer men, there were fewer expectations of or desires on their part to spend time with their family. The older women directors we interviewed either had grown children or were not parents. It also may be that the tensions older respondents had are now resolved, so their answers differ from younger respondents simply because of where they are in the lifecycle. Or it may be that those who had more tension with the work/personal life balance found themselves in different types of jobs or different organizations.

For the younger generation struggling with the work/personal life balance there are six different aspects that are be important to consider when thinking about attracting and sustaining future leadership in social change work.

- 1. *Structure of the Work*: It is important to acknowledge and articulate the ways the work is structured to encourage people to devote such long hours to the organization, and to determine ways this can be addressed. This seems to be true at all levels of the organization, not only the executive director position.
- 2. Acculturation: In many cases, it appeared that the culture of the organization and of the field supported long hours and complete commitment to the job. However, it may be that the culture could also consciously support and identify a continuum of ways staff could approach the work/life.
- 3. *Community*: There are both benefits and challenges in how the job can become a family for staff, filling an important need for a community with shared values. There needs to be a better understanding of ways that work plays this role, and how to make room for people to find community in other arenas as well.
- 4. *Identity*: It is not surprising that people older and younger -- find a great sense of identity in work that provides such an important sense of mission and purpose. There are ways to both support this identity and to encourage the organization to have an identity separate from its staff and to have staff that have identities outside of the work.

- 5. Support and Training: Younger people might have less conflict if they had others to talk with about how to figure out this balance, either older mentors or peer support. Both older and younger people could use some help in how they could really limit or better structure their time at work to accommodate work/personal life demands.
- 6. *Acceptance*: The demands of the job and the desire to put in long hours might be a positive part of the work for many people, so it is important to look at how this works well for older and younger people working in social change organizations.

Exploring and determining the extent of each of these issue can help support young people who feel the work they do is so essential to their life and well-being, and also help them fill their desire to have a life outside of the job without losing the connection and devotion they feel in their work.

### 3. Enjoyment: The Work and the Organization

Popular literature on Generation X (and to some degree Generation Y) indicates that these cohorts are committed to the ideas but not to the 'company'. As evidenced by the previous two sections, the respondents in the study were overwhelmingly committed to their work. Line staff members were just as effusive as those in leadership positions. Respondents found pleasure in both the ways the job was a place they could work with constituents and how the organization could give back to them. The study also points to how many people -- especially younger people -- were committed not only to their work, but also to their current organization.

#### Having an Impact

When asked what they enjoyed in their work, respondents talked about the satisfaction they found in helping other people, whether it was providing a service, advocating for reform, or providing venues for constituents to organize for their own political interests. An older director/founder told the interviewer,

the most important thing is I enjoy women and families who were once struggling and who had such a poor image, etc., move up and out of poverty and come back to make a difference to other families. That's what I enjoy the most.

Others had similar responses talking about how they loved "the kids" or "the community" or a host of other constituencies. Some people referred to how they could make significant overall change in a neighborhood, visible evidence of the work of the organization. For some it was more generalized. One respondent explained,

I'm always trying to 'fight the system' so to speak, but I'm really being able to utilize my time, my energy towards something that is making the world a better place. And it's something that I can be proud of, that I can look back and I can talk to people about and I can eventually tell my children about it and that I can be proud of what I've done, my commitment and I think my actions.

The work with and for constituents was, for many, deeply personal. Older respondents were more likely to talk about justice and developing the power base of underrepresented groups. For younger respondents, the personal aspects were often more explicit. For example, a twenty-seven year old responded,

I'm very religious. And I think this is actually.... this is God's work, right? And I feel fulfilled doing this work on the spiritual level and that's very important to me.

For staff and directors who came from the communities being served, there was a special enjoyment in being able to help others like themselves, even if they had not faced exactly the same obstacles. For example, one young respondent worked in a collective of primarily low-income women. She had previously been on welfare, and talked about the shame and silence she experienced. So she took enormous pleasure from helping other low-income women find their own voice by encouraging them to write for the organization's paper, which the respondent edited. She was excited by both the voice the paper gave to women like herself and the fact that the paper provided others with information that would otherwise not be available.

I always love it [the paper] when it comes out... I love to know that teachers use our paper in their classrooms. I love to know that people are getting the facts. I love to know that women have a space where they can tell their stories.

Having an impact on their own community or helping other communities was a deeply satisfying part of the work for these people, something that they often did not think they could find in other places. The job was a base for the expression of their personal, political, and spiritual commitment.

### Finding a Home

Contrary to our expectations that the work -- not the actual organization -- was most important, many of the young staff members talked about how their particular organization was part of the reason they 'loved' their jobs. Several mentioned the values of the organization and the approach to problems that made it an especially enjoyable

place to work. It was the combination of what they saw as a unique organization with unique people working in it that made the work experience so positive. One young staff member explained,

I love my job. I find it incredibly gratifying...And I think the thing I love the most about it is the fact that we do things differently, that we really do our best to recognize and uphold the dignity of our clients and provide services that the client needs, that the client determines that he or she needs, and are in the client's best interests rather than providing services that the lawyer finds are the things that the client needs.

Another young staff member talked about what she enjoyed about her job by saying,

I guess the number one thing is that there are a lot of people here who I think are
really engaged and intelligent, have a lot of analysis ... whenever I have a
question about something I've read or whatever, that I feel like I can just sort of
bring it up and have a pretty interesting conversation with someone.

#### Another commented.

I just really, I don't know if you think it's corny, but I just really love the fact that I could come to work with such a great group of people. You know? And besides the fact that I now that I'm doing something that's helping somebody else, you know, is icing on the cake.

It was interesting that directors – older *and* younger -- rarely referred to their collegial relationships even though several older and younger directors had worked with the same people for many years. It may be that the responsibility of directing the organization made it feel less familial to them, something that is expressed in the next section on challenges. It may also be that they share more with their peers in other organizations than with their staffs. These differences make it even more important for directors to understand the impact of the organization's values and internal environment on young staffers. Disruptions in either of these areas may have more repercussions for those *not* in leadership than those in it.

# **Self-Expression**

Directors of all ages differed from their staffs in other ways as well. Directors were far more likely to talk about how they enjoyed the creativity, daily challenges, and problem-solving demanded by their work. Several mentioned how they thrived on the fast pace and crisis-driven mode of operating. One young director explained,

I like the fact that no day is ever going to be slow...that there's always way more work than I'll ever be able to get done. That I have to be a closer; I have to be the one that actually makes sure that projects get done

Older directors also mentioned the continuing challenge posed by the work, often noting it as a reason they had stayed in their positions for so many years. There always seemed a new challenge around the corner. There was no better expression of this than from an older director whose enthusiasm throughout the interview was irrepressible,

The most fun is being able to do things that you're not supposed to. ... One validating thing is when you can't raise money. That's great. It means you really are getting people all uptight. The other one is, especially back then, I'm a lot nice now, but back then, I'd walk into a room of, let's say, Puerto Rican politicians, and they all would like walk away from me; they all gave me dirty looks. [That] also made me feel very good, because it felt like, 'Good, these slime buckets, good, they don't want to talk to me. Fuck 'em.' And I felt like we were having an impact.

## **Implications**

Respondents' passion for their work was evident throughout the interviews. But it was the responses of the younger respondents that were the most surprising. They were far more likely than older interviewees to talk about how they *loved their jobs*. For example, one young founder/director commented,

The reason I stayed here for nine years is because my job constantly evolves, and it's always something new. There is honestly not been a day I've not loved my job.

And a young staff member who was moving positions in the organization commented, I thoroughly enjoy the work that I do now...I find it incredibly gratifying, and so to change my job, to leave my colleagues in a way and do different work was a difficult one because, like I said, I love my current job.

Another young director told the interviewer,

I love the fact – the thing is – I love our mission. You know, I like the fact that we get to serve this audience of people that are working really hard for making the city a better place and making, and are just fighting for...a better world.

The challenge is to build and support this love of the work while acknowledging the limits of what the workplace can provide over the long haul. It may be that older directors and staff could offer help in this area by sharing how they manage over time. This is especially important given the challenges reported below.

.

#### 4. Challenges in the Work

Respondents also were given the opportunity to talk about what they found frustrating in their work. Given the claims in the literature, we wondered how often older directors would talk about the lack of commitment of younger staff, or how often younger respondents would talk about their frustration with the structure and leadership in organizations run by older directors. In fact, there were relatively little of the expected complaints. However, there are still some findings worth noting.

Older directors rarely talked about the challenges they expected the organization to face in the future. Instead, they expressed a kind of familiarity and sometimes weariness about the constant demands of funding and administrative tasks. Younger directors were far more engaged with the challenge of how to build the organization, and analyzed this dilemma at great length. Young staff members seemed most concerned about their ability to meet constituent needs. When they did bring up challenges with internal operations, the issue was often around efficiency and decision-making, something that will be further explored in the next section.

#### Older Directors: Committed for the Long Haul

Older directors – especially those who had been with their organizations for a long period of time – expressed a keen awareness, if not acceptance, of the challenges they faced and/or their frustrations with the work. For several directors, the day in and day out work of raising money and administering a program was taking its toll, especially when they had originally become involved because of the *content*. For example, the challenges of finding funds were noted by almost every director, young and old, and often by staff as well. However, the older directors had been at it longer, and had seen their organizations ebb and flow based on the changing priorities of the funding sources, especially government, foundation and corporations. One older director described how he had to constantly shift strategies to meet the (new) analysis of what was needed to solve the problem, often developed by a (new) staff person at the funding organization.

Administration in general seemed to be a constant challenge for older directors, who often found it a diversion from their *real* work. Several talked about the need for an

administrative director to take on issues such as staffing, finance and budget, grant writing, and other similar tasks. One older founder commented,

And I'm getting less patient with having to do so much administrative work. I don't want to write grants anymore, and I don't want to follow the budget... I'm really tired of kissing the ass of rich people who don't know what they're talking about. Some of them do, but many of them don't and you can't tell them. I'm really tired of the panhandling. That's challenging.

Some of the older directors talked about the obstacles they faced in making systems change. Many had seen the results of their successes, but they were always preparing for the next – and often harder – challenge that was just around the corner. For some, this was a source of renewed energy, but others were drained by the larger political context in which they currently worked. One respondent told the interviewer,

The greatest frustration is to see the movement where your heart lies constantly battered about by a movement that I consider to be anti-democratic... there is a certain way in which the defeats, we collect the defeats, and they're kind of cumulative. So what we can see is, how is the Right coming down on the environmental movement; how is it coming down on the women's movement; how is it coming down on the civil rights movement? We can see it all, and that can have a cumulatively depressing effect.

Although the older directors seemed jaded at times, it did not mean that they were tired of the job. In response to the interviewer asking about the challenges posed by the work, an older director responded,

Well, it's impossible, it's impossible, basically. There's no way we can do the things that we need to do; just like impossible from the beginning. It's like, it can't be done. We don't have the resources to do the things that we need to do. It's no way. It's not going to happen. So that's the best part. It's to try to make something happen that you know it's impossible to do it, for anyone to do it. I think that's the best part.

### Young Directors: Being Ready

The challenges and frustrations described by younger directors echoed many of those identified by their older peers. The tone, however, was different. Younger directors spent far more time in the interview exploring and analyzing their challenges than did their older counterparts. They were less sure of their next step, but perhaps more open as well.

Younger directors were struggling with how to find the resources they felt they needed to implement their vision of what the organization could and should be. But their challenge extended beyond simply securing funds. They were less seasoned than the older directors and were often conflicted about how to move the organization ahead, especially their desire to grow the organization. One young founder explained how his "big challenge is growth," and talked about the "two voices" he heard in his head on this issue. One voice told him he was successful already and shouldn't risk more growth; the other challenged him to expand as a way to "open up new resources and new opportunities to help all of our sites." Another enthusiastically explained a similar conflict. He was stymied by his interest in growth and his commitment to an inclusive governance structure in the organization.

I think that as our staff gets bigger, having a collective governance structure is also more challenging. So I think that's a concern. That's why we wouldn't want to grow more... [but] then you get to the position where you could do something really exciting and positive and excellent and then you end up wanting to do it; so you're going to end up wanting to grow even if you say you're not going to want to grow.

Younger directors seemed to have high expectations of the organization and of themselves. One younger director talked about the constant search, "always trying to think of what can we do better." Another talked about the challenge of how to "fit in as many ways as possible to learn from what we're doing and continually try and improve it."

### Young Staff: Giving Enough

Younger staff respondents – in organizations run by older and younger directors -- were more likely to mention the importance and difficulty of being available to constituents at all times. They seemed to be filling in for other agencies they felt had failed. For example, one younger staff member talked about his frustration this way,

There is not enough time in the day to do everything that you want to do... No matter how much time I spend in there... I work basically twenty-four hours a day. If you need me to do something, if you need me to sit down and talk, if you want to do it on a Saturday or a Sunday, I'll come in.

Ironically, this need to spend long hours at work also left some young staffers feeling frustrated by friends and family who didn't seem to understand the importance of their work. A young staffer talked about the difficulty in getting "support from other people for the type of work that you do." When asked about her challenges she explained,

You know Friday night I'm here till like eight o'clock, 8:30 doing [her program]. And I'm twenty-three and you know, that's when twenty-three year olds, normal ones I guess or whatever, hang out and have a good time. And I just don't do anything on Fridays...And just having support from people in your personal life to understand well, this is important to me, too.

At the same time, as noted in the previous sections, several of the young respondents raised the issue of managing the work/personal life divide as a significant challenge.

## Changing the System

Many older and younger respondents – directors and staff – frequently mentioned their impatience with the slow pace of change. In addition, one young director was particularly struck by the inability of different groups to work together and expressed his frustration that the larger goal of social change was subverted by individual needs.

People are so invested and identified with whatever political position they have, [it] makes it hard to actually discuss, debate, talk about divergences of opinion.

Another young staffer described her frustration at how few people seem to be able to envision the needs of a functioning community. She noted the proliferation of community-based social services that try to fix systemic problems. She went on to say,

So what's frustrating is the fact that we want to fix all our problems ourselves, and we're not looking to other resources that exist in order to have them do what they're supposed to do, have them do their job. So sometimes, I feel like...I fall into the trap of saying, 'all right, we'll do it ourselves.'

# **Implications**

What does the description of respondents' challenges tell us about generational differences? It is significant that so many of the challenges were the same across generations and across position in the organization. Younger respondents overall seemed to have higher expectations of what they could and should be able to achieve. They wanted to be available to constituents, address systemic issues, receive the support they needed from family and friends, and work with others to find the elusive solutions to the social problems they faced. On the one hand, these expectations are fertile ground for innovative and creative work. On the other, not being able to meet such high expectations might deter young people from entering or staying in social change work.

As we have noted in other areas of this report, it is surprising that there is not more cross-generation dialogue about how younger people can build on and bring new energy to the work of the older leaders. Although we did not ask about this issue specifically, clearly the challenges that a new generation is facing seems to replicate some of those that older directors and staff also have and continue to struggle with. The challenges facing older people were more likely to be expressed as frustrations, no doubt as a result of repeated struggles over so many years. Younger directors framed their challenges more as obstacles that they were planning to overcome. One question is whether there can be learning across generations that would nourish older directors and encourage, not discourage young people from entering these fields.

## 5. Decision-Making: Who's Involved

You have to understand, I come from a completely different culture... I came from the private and public sector[s] where management told you this was what's going to happen and you just kind of said, 'oh, OK'.

One aspect of generational differences frequently discussed in the popular literature is the desire for Generations X and Y to have power and responsibility in organizations while Baby Boomers believe younger people need to first 'pay their dues'. Based on the responses directors gave on the process of decision-making in their organizations, younger generations should be flocking to social change nonprofits. Directors talked at length about the involvement of staff in decision-making. They also tangentially addressed another popular assumption, that younger generations prefer to work in teams, rather than in the hierarchical arrangements favored by Baby Boomers and their predecessors. Most directors in this study were keen on a team approach to the work where all staff had a voice in the operations.

However, a careful look at the interviews reveals that the idea of inclusion can be ill-defined and confusing for staff. Decision-making discussions were a window into how these social change organizations were structured, and a fuzzy picture emerged as the interviews were closely examined. The directors' determination to include staff (and in some cases constituents) often left staff confused about the process. Young staff members talked about having 'input' into decision-making, but often seemed unclear about their real power and authority. In several organizations, there also seemed to be a significant gap between the directors' perception of the process – especially in organizations with older directors -- and the staff's, as evidenced in one organization where the staff unionized despite (or because of) what was supposed to be a power-sharing arrangement. Many directors – older and younger -- were reluctant to discuss how they all had power in the organization, either directly or indirectly, even in organizations that had very little hierarchy. However, there were a few older directors that made no pretense about wanting input from staff. As one said, "ultimately it is kind

of authoritarian, you know, I run the shop kind of thing. A benevolent dictator." And another admitted, "We never got flat [Laughter], I'm too much of a control freak."

The study revealed an odd conflation between *collective decision-making* (with high levels of discussion and input), which required *a lot* of time and energy of *all* staff, and *flattened hierarchical models* (that gave staff autonomy and freedom to run with their own ideas or units to accomplish certain tasks), which required *less time* and energy of all staff. Simply acknowledging and discussing these differences and their implications would be a significant contribution to understanding organizational structure and its impact on staff in social change work. In addition, many younger directors were committed to alternative organizational models that they felt gave staff real power. However, they struggled with issues of process over getting the work done. Looking closely at different models of organizational structure and leadership would be extremely useful for those pursuing this path.

## From Input to Collectives: Involving Staff

Overall, there was an unspoken assumption that involving staff members in decision-making was an important value in social change work. However, how staff were involved varied among organizations based on size, organizational history, and style of the director. It was difficult to get a complete understanding of the decision-making process with the limited number of respondents we had in each organization, but certain themes are worth exploring.

### *Older Directors: Providing Input into the Hierarchy*

In one organization, there were clearly many competing agendas that the older founder was trying to address when she put decision-making structures in place. She wanted a structure that protected the agency from external threats at the same time that she rejected traditional hierarchical models. She explained to the interviewer,

The internal organization is hierarchical and was set up that way originally on purpose, because we are always subject to lawsuits, we're always subject to attack. ... So that's the reason it was set up on a hierarchical model, but it ... has

never really run that way. Internally, we operate with as much power sharing and sharing of decision-making as we can manage. It's always been, in my opinion, a great strength of the organization that we do operate that way.

Despite her pride in the inclusiveness in the organization, however, there was some uncertainty reflected in the reports by other staff. For example, a new (older) staff member who was hired to take over operations valued staff inclusion but also wanted to move what she considered certain "administrative" decisions forward. When she wanted to draft personnel policies, she simply wrote them, had them reviewed by a lawyer and then ratified by the board. She noted that there was no need to bring everything to the staff,

There are plenty of decisions that are now made by me, or me and the office manager, for example, or me and the development director.

However, she also believed that "big decisions" needed to include all staff, and gave several examples of how programmatic decisions were made through a combination of staff meetings and individual work. The problem was figuring out the boundaries between decisions needing no input, decisions that needed input without staff involvement in the final decision, and decisions that were made collaboratively with staff.

The third interview in this organization was with a staff member in her early twenties. She both appreciated having a voice in the organization and was confused about when her voice would be heard. She commented,

There's sort of this sense that everyone gets to have their two-cents in, but I really think ultimately, there are a lot of decisions that there are a few people who make them, even though they will take everyone's opinions about them... like, I don't know, there's a certain style where it feels like it's collaborative, but ultimately it's not.

This example illustrates some of the issues staff members at all levels had with the decision-making process in several of the organizations in the study. The directors were

often very conscious of needing both a process for the staff to make significant contributions to the content of decisions in the organization, but there were mixed signals about the role staff played in decisions about the internal process. The intention of the director is often to maximize the feeling that staff members can contribute to the work of the organization, but the implementation is often unclear to those whose contributions are being sought. In most of the organizations, there were differences between giving input and having the power and authority to make a decision. The actual process of decision-making was often hard to discern.

In the end, it was often the staff member who was left trying to figure out the rules. The danger is that staff members may begin to doubt that the desire for input is real. In the example above, the founder supports collaborative decision-making but lacks a clear sense – at least to the staff -- of when 'the buck stops here.' The administrator is trying to separate out when the decisions require staff involvement and reframes inclusion as input rather than collaboration. Finally, the young staffer seeks clarity that will inform her on how much she should invest in the organization's decision-making processes.

#### Younger Directors: Finding a (new) Collective Model

The second example is an organization that was founded by two young co-directors. We interviewed one of the co-directors who is in his early thirties and a twenty-three year old staff member. The organization had a very complicated decision-making process including a membership board and a staff collective. As explained by the co-director,

[The organization] is a democratically structured organization, where the board of directors is composed entirely of people from the neighborhood who are members of the organization who are elected by the full membership... the staff is structured as a collective so everyone on staff has an equal say, ...and we decide things kind of through some sort of modified supermajority voting system that tries to capture some of the benefits of consensus decision-making, but not capture some of the disadvantages of consensus decision-making.

The founder went on to explain in greater depth how these structures work, and then expressed his concerns about the future of the organization as it grows. He noted how

growth called for more hierarchical decision-making structures, but these pose potential problems by muting the voice of staff. However, without more structure, he feared that a large collective staff could spin their wheels in process and bog down the work.

The young staff member was closely aligned with the director in valuing a collaborative process. He explained, "We all make the decision. And that's good about an organization." The staffer continued,

Before they had a little collective group who would make decisions, like five people would just be on that group. But the other staff had a problem with that because the majority of people who were on that group was white...I know they're not making decisions that would mess us up, or hurt us in any way, but we still want our say in it. And they abolished that group and they made it a staff collective. Instead of making up a little group collective, they made a staff collective.

When the interviewer asked the staff member whether this decision-making structure will always remain a part of the organization, he responded, "Oh, yes".

In this example, both the director and the staff member are extremely reflective about the process, perhaps a result of the collective decision-making process, and both describe it similarly, seeing the whole staff with the power. The young staff member is clear about his role, power and responsibility. However, there are two interesting points related to how power works in this collective model. First, the young founder is struggling with the model and wondering if it will be able to continue as the organization grows. And it doesn't appear that he has used the collective decision-making process to help figure out what might come next. The younger staff member clearly believes that the current process will remain a permanent feature of the organization.

Second, there is a marked absence of a discussion of the power dynamics underlying the decision-making process by either the director or the staff member. Race (and in this case probably class) is noted as a problem that the staff confronted, but is not mentioned

by the director. And the power of the director's advanced degree, status as founder, and holder of the organization's vision are not even mentioned.

In the end, the younger directors interested in staff involvement seem to be grappling with many of the same issues older directors faced in an earlier era. It is not clear if the results, in the end, will be the same.

#### Older versus Younger: The Difference

These two examples exemplify some of the generational difference identified in the interviews. Younger directors were more likely to talk about and try different approaches for making decisions. One organization had both a leadership circle and weekly staff meetings, another had several team meetings led by the director, and a third discussed a team approach that made decisions by consensus and brought any conflicts to the executive director. All of these processes were designed to maximize staff involvement as the organizations grew, and all of these young directors were carefully watching the structures to see how they held up over time.

Older directors might have begun their careers with similar models and then opted for a more traditional hierarchy with input as time went on. For example, in one organization a staff member in his mid-thirties explained how when he entered the agency, it the director and his administrative staff had set up a system where staff had input into all decisions through committees. The staff member added,

It was very, very democratic. It was nice, but I mean, a little convoluted and a little too many steps to really do things and get things accomplished in an efficient manner because everything that needed to be done and every decision that needed to be made was made by some type of committee.

In a surprising move, the staff then unionized, and the organization was forced to abandon the committee structure set up by the director and operate in an explicit hierarchical model. The staff person reflected on what might have happened in the agency to cause staff to unionize despite the high level of input.

The hierarchy [leadership of the organization] I think sometimes, especially when you're in an organization like this where you're doing really good things for poor people, I think the hierarchy of organizations like this sometimes get really self-righteous and start thinking that they know what's best for poor people, even more than poor people know...And the staff started to resent that. You come to an organization like this and the hierarchy that's been here for fifteen, sixteen years, you know, ... they expected people to work the same way they work.

This is another example of how input or joint decision-making may not appear the same way to directors and staff. That is, the way the 'hierarchy' operates including its motivation is perceived differently by those in positions of more power than by those who are not. In this case, power also included race, which is often an important and unacknowledged element in the structure of decision-making.

#### Flattened Decision-Making

There were some younger and older directors that had implemented a more decentralized model of decision-making. They gave program directors power and authority to run their own units. As one younger director put it,

In the past, there would be one person [the executive director] making all the decisions. And now it is not. I make the supervisor who's responsible for that program make the decisions and then we talk about it, we discuss it. And I think that part really makes the program a lot easier to operate because the supervisor has some sort of the decision-making power. It's easy for them to improve what they want to improve... If you don't try, you don't know if it fails or if it succeeds, it is a success. How do you know if you don't try, if you don't take a risk?

And another director, an older founder, described his style of management. Each project operates independently. In addition, there is a process by which all the project directors make larger organizational decisions. He explained,

I've never been interested in controlling anybody else, but have always had a great interest in doing what I want to do... I guess that's who we are. In a lot of ways it's a reflection of me. I, ah, you know, *I wanted* to be independent and doing work I want to do; so I have an office of people who are independent and doing the work they want to do. That works for us.

Directors of flattened hierarchies saw their role as helping to knit together the different pieces of the organization, and all ran meetings among the program unit heads to make organization-wide decisions when needed. In some cases the vision of the director, the independence of the units and the consensus on organizational issues created tension. In one organization, the young director who gave significant authority to the program heads explained,

I don't think anyone at all sees what the potential of the organization is in the same way that I do. ... Like, I have this view of the way I'm sort of seeing the future organization.... Nobody, my board and my staff, really has a sense of where this place could be in the same way I do, and that's on purpose.

The young program director from this same organization was generally happy with her "very cool" job but was stunned and confused by a recent unilateral decision made by the director. She commented

So, it's just frustrating because things here are so consensus driven that to have something that is not, it just surprised me... I can't conceive of having done something like that... I just wouldn't, given how things, decisions work in the organization, the idea of moving forward on something with such strong implications for people there without consulting them on it just, you know, it's not how I would do it. But that was how it was done.

And in another example, one young staff member in flattened organization summed it up nicely when he talked about the independent program directors making decisions about the organization as a whole,

There is a tension between growth, efficiency, consensus-based decision-making and independence.

Overall the flattened hierarchical model seemed to work well in organizations where there were several different projects that could operate somewhat autonomously. What appealed to the staff we talked with was the sense of trust, independence and director support. However, they still struggled with both how they managed their own projects or units, and with their role in the overall organization.

### **Implications**

Directors of organizations included in the study clearly value staff input in decision-making. However, the results do not always work well for staff despite the best intentions of directors. It was usually with older directors that this tension was most clearly manifest. These directors both wanted to find a way to include staff while also reserving their right to make organizational decisions. They were not, as some staff felt, trying to manipulate staff, they were simply trying to balance when and how input works for the organization. For staff, the concept of input was unclear, which often led to conflict or disillusionment with directors. Some ways that the next generation of social change nonprofit leaders might be supported in participatory decision-making are listed below.

- 1. Articulating Models: Many younger directors are looking to run their organizations in ways that seem to them to differ from older styles, ranging from a more collective decision-making approach to more autonomy and flattened hierarchies for staff. Developing a continuum of decision-making styles including what works well in different settings as well as what works well for younger staff members would be extremely useful to young people contemplating or working in leadership positions.
- 2. Acknowledging Race: The two examples above in which race was noted had white directors and people of color on staff. It is better that directors raise and examine the role of race in its decision-making structures directly, than have staff attribute meaning to their silence on this issue. Directors, especially

- older white directors, could be assisted in exploring these issues with staff members given the significance of race in the operation of the organization.
- 3. Clarity and its Consequences: One of the most consistent findings from the study is the need for organizations to be clear about how they operate and what they expect from staff. In the long run, this process might make social change nonprofits more appealing to younger people and could help avoid disappointments that are inevitable when directors and staff have different assumptions. It would also force organizations to think more clearly about their own process. Inclusion, autonomy and trust do not mean that everyone has equal power in the organization; making that explicit could only be helpful to young staff.

### 6. Leadership

Respondents in the study were asked about their view of leadership, including what it took to lead an organization like theirs. Given the phrasing of the question, it was not surprising that many of the answers focused on the current leader, either their strengths/ weaknesses or the qualities that would be desirable in a successor.

The answers revealed some interesting generational differences. When older directors talked about future leadership, they were more likely to raise questions about whether anyone would ever be able to take over their organization successfully. Several of the younger directors were focused on building new leaders, both in their organizations and as one important quality of leadership. Younger directors also talked about the need to listen to and to get help from others as a sign of a good leader. Staff members for the most part answered in very general terms, noting the need for vision, communication skills, collaborative style and concern about staff. In fact these very broad themes were noted across all age groups and positions in these organizations.

#### Older Directors: Keeping the Vision

The responses of older directors, especially founders, revealed their concern about who would carry on their ideas and vision if they were to leave their organizations. Several focused very specifically on the leadership qualities needed to run an organization like theirs. Sometimes this was couched in a discussion of leadership in general, and sometimes it was explicitly about them or their potential successor. A good example is seen in the response of this older founder,

I'm not going to do this forever one way or another. [Laughter] So then what, how do you develop that ongoing continuity? ... Here... the program is constantly developing and growing and changing, it's very specific in nature. So, the leadership has to come out of people who've come in here and developed their leadership here and then know this organization, know this set of philosophies

and this set of methodologies, are committed to and have the talents and abilities to carry it on.

Founders in particular were keenly aware of leadership skills needed to run an organization since many assumed that it was their responsibility to think about *their* next leader. This is not surprising, given that many of these organizations were built as a result of the founder's vision and principles. No doubt, founders and long-term directors want to insure that they preserve what they consider the core of the organization.

Older directors who were not founders were more likely to talk about the issue of leadership in terms of what leadership qualities they felt *they* brought to the organization. One older director who had recently been hired told the interviewer,

I think what you have to do is you have to keep persevering in the face of these challenges in a way that you're feeling tall and strong...And I don't think you can do this kind of work without making mistakes.... Myself, I have to be able to be open to suggestions and to the support of those around me. You can't be arrogant. [Laughter]. ... I'm a big idea person and so forth. But I think the ideas are only as good as those people who are going to support them ... I really spend a lot of time trying to inspire people to understand the possibilities of what they can accomplish.

The older directors, in general, seemed to be reflecting on what has made them good leaders and who might fill their role in the future. Yet, there appeared to be a gap between these reflections and the steps older leaders were taking to support new leaders. It is interesting that not one of the older directors mentioned mentoring or nurturing future leaders as a quality of leadership, even though from interviews with staff members there were clearly several who were 'mentors'. Nor did they discuss whether they believe leaders should be of a certain age or have a certain number of years of experience. Some older directors talked about the number of years of training in their methods new leadership would need, but it did not appear that many were wedded to that

idea. So we are left with the unanswered question: Do older directors believe that younger people are able to join the pool of future leadership?

At lease in one case, the interview with a twenty-three year old staffer demonstrated the work of an older director who had all the elements of a great teacher. The staff member talked about how her director gives her important assignments feigning his own need to 'get things off his plate.' He then talked her through how to approach the situation and was available during and after to give her guidance and to debrief. He assigned her responsibilities, demonstrated his trust, kept the focus on her abilities and skills, and built in time to give her support and learn from the process. It may be that older leaders need help in how to support young staff in ways that clearly were natural for this older director. This could include a structure to think about how their years of experience can be used to help build future leaders that could help take over their organizations, a concern that is clearly on their minds.

## Younger Directors: Continue to Build

Younger directors, in contrast to their older peers, often talked in detail about the development of new leaders in the organization who could take over their position. For example, one young founder in his late twenties who is part of a directors' team explained,

You [need to] nurture the people who are on your staff at this point in time so that they can eventually take over the leadership.

And a twenty-seven year old director, who took over the organization after a series of older directors, told the interviewer,

Looking at the future, it's creating the space and building leadership that will take over. So it's allowing this office to be touchable; allowing the space for folks to say, I want to be the ED, now what does it take?

In addition to thinking about new leaders, several younger directors were also contending with being relatively new themselves. They often seemed to be looking for a chance to show their leadership in their own way. One young director explained.

You have to be open also to learning new things and to recognizing that everybody's got something to teach. Experts as we are, we're always learning new things... Obviously, you learn from what's been done before, but also it's like doing something totally different... I think [you have to be] bold, in a lot of senses, because you are challenging, at times, conventional thinking. And you come under fire at times for the things that we do.

Are these responses from young directors simply examples of a difference in lifecycle? Will these directors change over time, and as they age give responses similar to those given by older directors in this study? It is impossible to know. However, it is important to consider how young directors can be supported both in their desire to build leaders of the future and their determination to make their own mark on social change organizations.

## Younger Staffs: Wanting it All

For younger staff members, vision and communication were key components to leadership. They were more likely to have high expectations of leadership and seemed surprisingly unconcerned about their own leadership qualities. One younger staff member commenting on the qualities for good leadership described the perfect leader,

The vision to be able to move the organization on an administrative level but also stay really closely in touch with the program and what happens in a community, what happens in a school, just from the smallest interaction that goes wrong – the little piece of conflict that happens, staying engaged in that at the same time. So, I would say a leader has to be able to see the big picture and have a vision of what it would look like, but also be able to see and feel every small detail that happen...

#### He continued.

Open mindedness, passion, commitment, communications skills [pause], depth of experience or thought and character. And vision. It's hard to lead any of us without being able to see the world being a better place, whether the outcomes happen or not.

This thoughtful description is, of course, completely unrealistic. No one will possess all these qualities. In other cases, young staffers seem to have a good handle on the differences between the current leaders and the qualities that might be needed in the future. A twenty-three year old commented,

And so within that particular culture, it's sort of being responsive to people's needs and demands on a consistent basis. Whether that's how I would run it is a different question, but I think that certainly that's within the organization right now, that's what it takes. But I think that other qualities [that] could serve equally well, I think, are sort of a strong communication skills; very, very strong charisma; and perspective, sort of long-term, both being able to combine short-term reactiveness and long-term thinking; and setting priorities.

Some young staffers were able to identify with the organization's leader, whether older or younger, feeling they may have or may develop similar qualities. They could imagine themselves in the director's role. Others did not think of their current directors as role models, even if they aspired to one day have a similar position. Still others seemed either unable or uninterested in seeing themselves as the leader of the organization. For those who were interested in leadership, they could develop their skills if they are given opportunities to make decisions and have responsibility. The challenge then is to develop ways to identify and reach out to younger staff members that are interested in development as future leaders.

## **Implications**

The most interesting findings in this area were how the responses reflect on the potential for building future leaders. Older directors are more likely to be reflecting on what has made them good leaders, and who could fill their shoes in the future. Younger directors are trying to make their own mark as leaders, and are unusually conscious of bringing others along in the process.

Two comments by young staff members about their current directors help to point to the future need. In one organization, a staffer in her mid-thirties brought in to help administer the organization pinpointed the impact of a potential leadership gap as she worried about the organization without the older founder.

I mean if [the current director] died, could this place continue? I don't know. I'm not sure. ... I guess, I wonder about whether there is a significant enough pool of people out there who could step into a place like this... I mean, if you're [the current director], you can make your own decisions. This is a membership organization – he's the sole member. He doesn't have to listen to the Board. He can do whatever he wants. He chooses not to. And he has created this agency. I don't know. I haven't decided yet whether I think someone else could step in and kind of keep the same model.

In contrast, the staffer who had been mentored by her older director as described above told the interviewer,

He's about developing leadership, so I think a good leader is not scared of putting anybody else in an equal position as him or teaching them everything or showing all their cards, you know, because you confide in that person and you think, that, you know, you're developing other people. It's not just about you. Other people share your vision, because you brought people into that vision. That vision wasn't just created by you, but developed by you and other people... I think that's really why I consider [current director] to be one of the most effective managers.

## 7. Training for Leaders

What does it take to train leaders of social change organizations? The respondents in this study seemed to believe that any formal training on leadership or how to run an organization was unnecessary and perhaps even harmful. Directors talked about the importance of content knowledge, or skills such as a law degree needed for advocacy, but graduate programs for administration or nonprofit management were rejected except to legitimate a leader to the outside world. The qualities needed for good leadership according to these respondents were learned on the job and from life experience.

### Older Directors and the Challenge of Management

For the most part, older directors were absolutely convinced that any sort of formal training or education especially on nonprofit management or leadership was a waste of time. These directors entered their jobs when there were no nonprofit management programs. They valued knowing the content area over having management skills. As one older director observed,

I know about housing; that's what I got trained in and got interested in. I don't think any of us -- I don't think I got a lot of training to do the things that you have to do as executive director. You sort of picked it up as you were thrown into it -- fund raising and budgeting, and financial management and personnel management -- all those kinds of things. I don't think I got any; those weren't the things that I learned

These directors, for the most part, thought that what they needed could be learned from experience on the job - a kind of trial and error method. For some, formal training in how to run an organization was the antithesis of visionary leadership. In fact, such training was seen as limiting the potential of the organization. For example, one founder explained,

I'm not sure exactly the wording I want here, but it [training] can encourage you to think inside boxes, when a lot of the work of the program director or the founder or the visionary or whatever that set of roles is in a social change

organization is to think outside the box and to see possibilities where they weren't obvious.

One theme that ran through many of the respondents' answers was the belief that leadership and even parts of management could not really be taught. Formal education could supplement, but not build leadership. One older director told the interviewer,

If you don't have certain aptitudes or formative experiences, I don't mean mine, but you've got to have some sense of power and the way the world really works and doesn't work, and what's real and what's not real...And you have to have an instinct about it. Do you know what I mean? So, nobody can teach that... Then there's a whole lot of other things you can teach: how to do individual meetings, the necessity of them, how to think broadly instead of narrowly, how to be less parochial...how to raise money. That all you can teach.

Another older director who had told the interviewer she regretted not having an advanced degree in either law or business then wondered about whether either degree would have actually been useful. She mused, "Maybe, my skills lay more in management and that's very hard to teach although there are some skills and things you can learn."

Overall, the older directors supported management training, but not formal education. Many feared that the emphasis on management would supplant the deeper knowledge or instincts of leaders in social change organizations.

### Younger Directors: In-Between

Most of the younger directors agreed with older directors, though overall, they did not appear to have the fear or hostility that was expressed by their older peers. As noted earlier, several of the younger directors had worked in the for-profit sector and felt those experiences had been invaluable training for the administrative aspects of their work. One young director wavered in describing whether or not she would benefit from a Masters in Business Administration. She reflected on her own skills, claiming, "I do

think that having management and leadership capabilities is an innate talent," but then later talked about how management skills can "definitely can be learned."

Young directors were also more likely to mention the importance of leadership development as it related to the type of work in which they were engaged. The development of young potential leaders who otherwise might be overlooked could have an important impact on a young person's direction and expectations. One young director noted,

I attribute part of me being able to be executive director here, to the leadership development that I received here. And so the development opportunities and opportunities to engage and really be involved as a resident, to understand the business, to understand the work, [and] to understand what we do here in a way that was so profound.

### Degrees for Legitimacy

Several of the directors we talked with noted that they had gone back to get an advanced degree for 'the credential'. People of color and young people were more likely to talk about this need. An older African-American woman director explained,

I did the formal piece. I did do that. But you know, I think about that as a [pauses] door opener. I worked hard to get the degree.... But it's not the same things as somebody shaping you and teaching you. It gave me some kind of currency. And I don't disrespect it for what it continues to be. But I think when somebody says, 'how did you get to learn to do what you do,' you do it in the practical.

A young staffer of color told us she would probably have to go back to school for the credential, she explained,

Even if I would have gotten ... my master's in administration, public administration, you know, I could say that and be like, 'oh, I got my degree,' ... You need to love what it is that you do and really want to get it done. And I don't think school's going to give that to you, regardless of whether you go to Harvard or you go to any other institution. I think it has to do with the person, but in the

end, credentials matter. In the world, that you're, you know, fighting for credibility.

One of the white younger director's also talked about going on for a graduate degree so people would take him and his work more seriously,

I went to get my Master's Degree... and I went because I wanted letters after my name. I was really clear about that. I was twenty-two. I looked twelve, and I wanted some credentialing. And so, I took the courses I needed to do for that credentialing.

### Younger Staff: From Common Sense to the Importance of Theory

Staff responses about training did not differ substantially from those of directors. Several staff members stressed the importance of learning from experience rather than from school. For example, echoing the responses of older directors, one young staff member talked about how he had noticed his experience seemed to hold up better in the workplace than the knowledge of staff that had masters degrees but no experience.

The importance of *life* as well as work experience was noted by several of the younger staff members that were part of the constituencies the organizations served. One staffer who worked for directors that came from outside the community, talked about the importance of leadership actually having experienced what it was like being a member of the constituency. A twenty-one year old staff member talked about how his life had been invaluable in his work,

You lived through, you know the court battles; you lived through the media. You lived through walking down a pitch-dark street. You've lived through that, and you take from every type of situation that you're in, that an institution can never teach you.

The one respondent most enthusiastic about school was one of the younger members in a collective of low-income women. Though her work was clearly based on her life experience, she found that school had opened her up to a new way of thinking. However, she too complained that her college program -- geared to low-income women -- had been too practically oriented. She explained,

I think it's good to learn about organizing and it's good to do things in the community, but it's also important to understand the history and root causes. I think you have to understand sociology and you have to understand the history... there's more that they could learn that would help inform their experience. There's more than just being in the community. There's also an understanding of how things got to be this way.

In a similar vein an older staff member expressed regret that she had not had the opportunity to have more formal training. When asked about formal training for leaders she suggested that there could be a kind of "social justice MBA."

# **Implications**

The negative response by *all* respondents in the study to nonprofit degree programs, or any degrees in administration was unexpected. It is possible that directors already working in the field might find questions about training for leadership a challenge to their own competency. However, the vehemence and universality of the response requires more careful examination. There is the perception that degrees focused on administration will detract from the work because they do not teach about the content of or causes for the problems social change organizations are trying to address. So, even those who had a desire for more education seemed to have trouble figuring out where to go. There also appears to be a strong belief in the innate qualities of leadership. In this case, school or training is an enhancement of otherwise natural qualities. There was also a subtle undertone to the distrust of administrative degree programs for those working in social change nonprofits, a kind of suspicion that these programs would acculturate potential leaders in ways that made them palatable to funders and other people in power, but cause them to lose their true values and vision.

In the future, especially in this increasingly complex world of social change work, there needs to be much more attention paid to the way leaders come into their roles and to the supports to help provide the real skills future leaders will need to do these jobs. More important, however, is to identify and give voice to young people who have leadership potential. In addition, management programs should be examined for their relevancy to nonprofit social change work. Finally, there needs to be education that is able to integrate and acknowledge the skills people learn from life and the job, and encourage individuals to continue to learn in other venues.

## 8. Race and Gender

It was common in the popular literature to find claims that Generations X and Y were more comfortable than previous generations working across race and gender lines. So we asked respondents if they thought "race and gender influence the leadership of an organization like this one." In addition, we analyzed all the data to see if responses from different age cohorts differed by race and gender.

Overall, the data cast doubt on the assumption that younger people have moved 'beyond' issues of race and gender. In fact, it was difficult to find any major differences from participants based on their age in either analysis. Race and gender remain issues for all age groups and responses to the question revealed tensions and frustrations, particularly with respect to race.

#### Tension about Race and Gender

Almost all of the respondents noted how issues of race and gender play a role in the leadership of social change organizations but there was no consistency either within or among age groups about what this meant. <sup>14</sup> White respondents tended to answer the question about the impact of race and gender in terms of their own and their organizations' efforts to hire and maintain a diverse staff. Even in the most racially diverse white-led organizations, the power positions in the organization seemed to be predominately held by other white staff members. In contrast, it was more likely for women to hold positions of power and authority in male-led organizations. Responding to this question, white staffers – both men and women - drew comparisons to other places they had worked and some talked about how much 'better' their organization was than most at thinking about diversity. In general, white respondents talked about how hard it was to hire people of color staff and wondered if it was possible to attract a more diverse group of applicants especially for higher-level jobs.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> It's important to note that the interviews were done by three women, two women of color (older and younger) and an older white woman. We have no doubt that the race/gender of the interviewer had some impact on the responses.

More specifically, white women directors were more likely to answer the question referring to gender differences, especially in management style. In general, they viewed the way women run and manage organizations as a benefit. For example, one older female director told the interviewer,

I am naturally collaborative and I think that I also am nurturing, inside and outside the organization... And a lot of those I think are just qualities that women bring to the workplace and bring to the work.

Older white women directors were more likely than their male counterparts to express concern about issues of race and racial representation among the staff. <sup>15</sup> They talked extensively about the need to hire more people of color in management positions. However, their organizations did not reflect the diversity they sought. Younger white men were more likely to express concern than younger white women. In one organization where most of the staff was female, under thirty-five and white, the young director responded to the question on race and gender by commenting,

The thing is, it would be important to have diversity of experience in the organization and we've worked hard on that. But in the end, there's a couple of overriding things that tend to force out people who aren't on our same wavelength... I mean we'll work 12-hour days, so that gets rid of your families, gets rid of your older people. And I need people to be willing to that for \$30,000 a year, and that gets rid of your minorities.

White men across age groups and positions were also aware of the importance of race but some seemed more skeptical about the question of the impact of race and gender on leadership. As it turns out, three organizations run by white male directors had been challenged on issues of the staff's racial diversity, but the information about these incidences came from the staff members interviewed, not the directors. One older white director remarked,

My experience is that it's an incredibly explosive issue. And it is an issue that is extremely difficult to talk about rationally and can be a serious problem. I'm

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Younger white men were more likely than older to be concerned in this way.

becoming a bit of a reactionary here.. ... I think too much of the Left has gone overboard in the requirements of having a diverse, of adding the extent of diversity that people want.

Among both older and younger groups, white men sometimes focused on the issue of whether they themselves were able to provide as good service as others who looked more like the community the organization serves. The respondents were candid about the conflicts they felt. For example, one younger staff member notes,

The idea of having staff that reflect our clients is so that our clients are comfortable with us. My experience over the years has been that that is an important but not a determinant issue.

He goes on to say,

I think overwhelmingly my clients have appreciated the role that I played with them. They cared that I was a hard worker, that I respected them and that I worked hard for them, and that I've had clients who had advocates of color before me or after me and they appreciated me more than they appreciated their other [providers] because they weren't treated as well by those other advocates as they were treated by me.

Respondents of color – across position and across age groups – tended to focus their responses on the race dynamics between different groups of people of color. For the directors this often meant fighting stereotypes. <sup>16</sup> An older woman director told us about how she was viewed when she first started the job.

I certainly was the first woman director of [her organization], and I don't remember feeling anything particular from the Board around that issue. I think I felt more there was a lot of flack when I was hired because I was a Hispanic woman, Latin woman, and everybody assumed, the people who were opposed assumed, that I was going to turn it into a Puerto Rican agency or something. And I was conscious of that always.

Another woman of color director explained,

 $<sup>^{16}</sup>$  We suspect there were differences between Boston and New York in this area as well.

But because somebody black was sitting in the seat, it was perceived as a black organization. So there are all of these kinds of issues that are challenging. And you're not going to change in a day, but you do have to be able to be mindful of all this. And when it's time, you have to call the shots. I think I feel prepared to do that, and doing it in a way that does not jeopardize the organization vis-à-vis its mission.

And a young male director of color observed,

In terms of the race piece, it's incredibly important that I represent [my constituency], so me being black is important. In a neighborhood like this, representation or race in leadership is huge. But in a neighborhood that's this diverse, though, I'm not West Indian, I'm not African American. I'm Cape Verdean. And there's this huge question mark of, 'what the hell is that?' And do you really consider yourself black, or not like us?' So, I mean, there's all this interracial, really ethnic question.

Two of the older directors of color noted how the climate related to issues of race has changed for the worse in the last twenty years. Rather than thinking that things had moved on, they were discouraged by what they saw as loses in the area of race consciousness. One respondent, a male director of color noted,

Years ago, I'd be at a meeting where they're talking about, I don't know, poverty in [the city] and then 99% of the people in the room are white people, and then I would also get up and say, 'You know, I think there's something wrong here. There's a lot more blacks and Latinos and Asians; they're not represented in the room.' And you know, maybe 15 years ago, somebody would say, 'Yeah, we really screwed up. Let's do something about it. Oh, yeah, we really messed up.'

Now I raise the issue and somebody gets up and goes, 'Well, yeah, well, you know, I don't understand what the problem is, I mean these are the people who come. We invited everybody, and this is who came.' So I don't know, you know, it's kind of a dismissive kind of thing.

An older black female leader related similar experiences:

All of a sudden we're supposed to be colorblind. That's such denial. I think we're going backwards because at least in the '60s and the '70s, we admitted, 'You know, we have issues with race so let's tackle them.' Now they're saying, 'Oh no, we don't need affirmative action and we don't have a problem with race anymore.'...I thought we were going to start facing racism in the '60s and early '70s. I really thought we were turning this country around and really going to address things. And now we've decided, 'Oh no, we don't need to address them, we've cured it all.' No way.

Staff of color in white organizations were more likely to express their concern about the power differentials based on race, and spoke of the race/class divisions within the organization. For the few in this position we interviewed, they were aware of the race/class divisions within the organization. A young African-American male staffer commented,

I've only been in management since I started, I came as a supervisor, so I don't have the point of view from the staff, but just from observing, there was a lot of anger. And because it's an organization that is structured much the same way other organizations are structured racially... meaning the hierarchy were white and the rest of the organization were minorities ...people had that attitude that OK, this is the typical thing. Everybody else is minority, and the hierarchy is white and when it comes down to it, they're doing to do what they want to do.

A young Latino staff member, who loves the organization, talked about the white people he works with who come from families with money where, "they have beautiful houses in the country." He goes on to say,

So like personally, to me and to my other co-workers, we've been there. We know how it is. We were raised in poor families. We were raised in the projects. We were raised in huts. We were raised with rats. We were raised with food stamps.

...So [you've] got to have a sense of humor about it, because it you are like depressed about it, trust me, it'll kill you.

## **Implications**

Race and gender, but especially race, are still subjects that are hard to address, even in social change organizations but age does not seem to be a determining factor in the responses.

Clearly race and gender are issues that need to be addressed when building future leadership in these organizations, especially looking at the ways these factors reflect issues of power and style. Directors of color still find it necessary to explain that they can think beyond their own ethnic background to address the needs of a larger constituency. The question is whether people of color can be supported in their efforts to lead social change groups that are not only identity-based.

For white led organizations, the challenge is to look at race and gender beyond simply issues of diversity (number of staff in the organization that represent diversity) to issues of power and the organization's dominant culture or way of operating. In addition, in white run organizations race is often conflated with class. Lending support to organizations to address these issues might be important in overcoming some of the barriers to finding new leaders.

One younger white woman in a collective provided some clarity as she talked about her desire and fear of talking about issues of race, class, and other 'isms'. She told the interviewer how hard it is for her to bring these issues to the table since they carry so much history and weight, yet she was convinced that not talking about them would prove to be disastrous. She mused,

So I get nervous about that. I feel like there could be rifts, divisions that could really split us. They never do but it doesn't mean that they won't.

## 9. Looking Toward the Future

What do respondents in this study see themselves doing in the future? Most of the directors in the study – older and younger –plan to continue on doing what they have been doing, often for decades. Some of the older founders were trying to change the *type of work* that they did in the organization, especially reducing their administrative responsibilities. Younger directors were usually looking to build organizational capacity, and talked about the need to provide continuity of leadership. None of the directors in the study seemed to have any definite plans about future work outside of the organization. <sup>17</sup>

Staff members' views of the future differed and those views also different from those of the directors. As might be expected, there were a variety of plans especially for younger staff. Some talked about going back to school, others were interested in finding new positions and still others wanted to stay in their organization for their career. Several had ambitions to run their own organization in the future or to become the director where they worked.

One interesting note, the few staff members in their late thirties and early forties had the most conflict about their future. They were all in some type of administrative role and there was usually no room for them to move up in their organization, and certainly no chance they would become director anytime soon. Most recognized that if they wanted more responsibility or different opportunities, they would have to leave their current position.

#### Older Directors: Always Something New

Most of the older directors had no intention of leaving their jobs. They often had built their life around their work, and the idea that they would do something else made little

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The one exception was a director who had already left her position. Even though she was retiring, this director was planning to stay in touch with the organization for several months to be available for the transition.

sense to them. The work was interesting, they had spent enormous time and energy in building their organizations, and there was little incentive to find something new. A few were trying to reduce the amount of time they spent at work and two were already transitioning out of their administration role in the organization. However, older directors for the most part were giving up what they liked least to concentrate on the pieces they liked best. One founder talked about stepping back from her work, transferring the administrative tasks to someone who could run operations. At sixty-four, she talked about how the job still offered many opportunities for her to be creative and do new things.

Another older founder told the interviewer how he loved the program work, but was pulled by the organization's need for administration,

So the major thing that we're trying to do now is we're trying to hire a COO, a Chief Operating Officer, someone to take my administrative tasks, although they're never all going to go. But I'm trying to get as many of the fundraising, financial oversight, evaluation, administration, administration away from me.

Since most directors really enjoyed their job, it often jolted them when they were asked about their future plans. One older director answered,

I don't know. I'll just keep doing what I've been doing. I don't have any plans. You know it remains interesting, because we're always doing new things... How long would I continue to do this? I don't know what else I would do if I didn't do *something* like this.

Another older director told the interviewer,

To be honest, I have no idea. I'll probably keep going, doing this stuff until I drop dead. In fact, I'll probably drop dead right in this chair like, I always tell my staff, one day somebody's going to come in, in the morning, I'm going to be dead. So that's as much as I can tell you about that. I have no idea.

## Younger Directors: My Dream Job

It was striking how similar younger directors' ideas about the future were to their older peers. Although several were conflicted by a sense that they *should* move on for the sake of the organization, leaving their position was something in the fairly distant future – usually five to ten years – hardly something they felt had to be addressed right away. Founders were especially attached, often comparing the organization to giving birth or raising a child. One young founder explained,

I view my job as the holder of the mission, one of the holders of the mission. But the holder of the history, the holder of the 'come from' place, and the values.

Like their older counterparts, younger directors talked about the importance of staying with the organization as a place to express their creativity and passion. One young director who is part of a leadership team imagined pursuing other interests, but then added.

But I don't think any of us will ever pursue other passions so that we are not involved at some level with what's going on here.

Another young director explained,

The reason I stayed here for nine years is because my job constantly evolves and its always something new. There is honestly not been a day I've not loved my job.

It was often this love for the job that confused directors who thought they should move on. Several talked about how their goal was to get the organization in 'good shape' before leaving, though they did not usually talk about what they were *going to*. Instead they emphasized that it was better for the organization that they did not stay too long. This conflict was exemplified by a young director who explained,

I have always told myself that I'm going to get it [the organization] to a place, where it is just fairly powerful, has a fairly large market, it's very stable. I will have built a nice wall of cash around it both in terms of incoming cash and then in additional reserves, and have found like the right next person, and then I would leave it... Now, that said, I laugh at myself because once I do build this, I think it's going to be like my dream job.

The commitment that young directors felt for their organization confirmed how much they loved their work. A young co-founder began by telling the interviewer that five years ago, he had made a ten year commitment to the organization. When asked what would happen next he responded,

I would just as soon stay here if I felt like it was effective, like it remained a challenging environment and it remained an environment that I felt was positive and also catalyzing the type of social change that I am interested in dedicating my life to seeing happen. So I could stay here, I think, for my entire life.

These young directors are devoted to their respective organizations and seem unlikely to leave unless circumstances in their lives – work or personal – significantly change. Following in the steps of their older peers, they have no motivation to give up a job they love.

## Staffs: Looking at the Future

Although they were clearly dedicated to their jobs, staff members of all ages found it far easier than directors to envision future work outside of their current organization. Their responses ranged from older staff members thinking of retirement, to young people talking about returning to school.

Young staff members had lots of different ideas about the future. At one end of the spectrum, a twenty-three year old wondered if she might be happier doing something "more vital and more immediate than what we do here," while a twenty-four year old planning to go to law school responded,

If feels like it's a real privilege to be able to do a lot of the stuff that I do. It's just really, you know. I can't think of another job right now that would really kind of have all elements that I have. Like so, you know, I don't have a lot of motivation to leave at the moment.

Young staffers had no trouble imagining themselves in leadership positions in the future. It was not uncommon to hear someone talk about starting their own organization or as one respondent put it, "I mean my whole objective is to one day be the Executive Director of this organization."

When staff members were asked about their ambition within the organization, it was clear they were interested but cautious. Most understood that the current leadership had no intention of leaving. Asked if he would like to be the executive director, one staff member in his early thirties put it this way,

I don't know, maybe some day. I mean [the current director] is the man right now, and has always been and I hope he holds up forever. Last I checked that's still impossible. I'm too focused on the here and now. Does my ego say that some day I'd like to? Sure. I don't think about that too much. I've got too much to do.

The few older staff we talked with were more focused on ending their career and making sure that they were still making a contribution. One person who was brought in to help the (older) founder move out of her current position responded,

I don't have a lot of ambition. You know, I'm fifty five years old. [Laugher] I'm not, you know going to light the world on fire.

Finally, it was the staff members who were not beginning or ending their careers that appeared to have the most conflict. Although there were a small number in this category, their comments were revealing. These staff members were in supervisory or administrative jobs, and clearly understood that they were not going to run the organization. Becoming the head administrator did not translate into being in line to run the organization if the director decided to leave. So they struggled with what that meant for their future.

One staff member in her late thirties who was brought in to help get the organization's systems into place admitted, "Well, I'm kind of thinking about the next step, quite frankly, because I don't really want to be the Director of Administration."

One staff member in this age group was less concerned about the future tenure of the director or whether he was in line for the job. He explained,

I can see myself here for another contract period... I could do something else within the organization that was more focused on that development aspect and proposal writing and the things like that I want to learn how to do, before moving on and doing my own thing. I don't really intend to work for someone for the rest of my life.

He explained why he was not interested in becoming the executive director,

I don't know if I want the baggage that comes along with being the ED of this organization, unless there was a serious turnover of staff in the hierarchy, where that would give you more of an ability to try to start fresh. But you have certain ideas and attitudes that are just embedded and ingrained in the institution of [the organization] that would be extremely difficult to change.

As reported earlier, there were also staff members that reported conflicts between the family and the job. These responses give us clues about some of the problems people face with the demands that family can make during this time of life. When asked about the future, one staffer responded,

When I first started with this organizing stuff I was, for me it was like cotton candy, I couldn't get enough and I had the energy for it. I mean, I was going at it, reading about it, thinking about it. ...[now] I've set my priorities because I have two kids. The oldest one is sixteen...This next year will be his final year in school, so I have to spend a lot of time making sure that he keeps up with his grades and stuff like that. I also have some health concerns of my own so I had to set back my time and not run out there too much.

# **Implications**

Overall, directors – young and old – are not certain what they would do without the organization and are not sure how the organization would do without them. Older people

who have run agencies for a long period of time, have no reason to move on while they still enjoy the work and may be reluctant to leave the organization in the hands of someone with a different vision.

Young directors often seem headed in a similar direction. These findings are self-evident. Why would any director want to leave after investing all the time, energy, thinking and commitment that goes into building a social change organization? In fact, the organization often reflects the director and the director's identity is often merged with the organization. So it is harder and harder to walk away even for those who might want something different. While younger people are excited by the potential of the organization and want to see it fulfilled, older directors have opportunities that building that capacity has given them that there is no reason to give up.

What does this mean? The staff members' responses help to explain the implications of the long tenure of many directors in social change work. There are few opportunities for those who might want to run an organization in their current positions, and there is almost no discussion about staff being trained to be the next director of their current organization or to help them to find an executive job someplace else. So staff members are pretty much left to find their own way.

## **Conclusion and Recommendations**

Nonprofit social change organizations have vital staffs that exhibit extraordinary leadership. Older and younger people involved in these organizations have many of the same qualities: commitment, concern, energy, interest, and a strong belief in justice. However, there are differences between those who were born in the Baby Boom generation and those who identify more with Generation X. These differences and their impact on future leadership are noted below.

## **The Generation Gap**

The similarity in responses from older and younger participants in the study seems to defy the claims made in the popular literature about generational differences. However, there are differences between the generations that are more complex than the literature describes. Among our respondents, it was evident that there was a gap between younger staffers and directors and current older leadership that seemed to reflect a *different meaning* attributed to the same behaviors, a difference that was subtle yet extremely important. For example, both older and younger leaders have a strong commitment to the work that often leads to long hours, identification with the mission, and a connection with constituents. However, young people tend to enter these organizations based on a *personal, often experience-based motivation* while older respondents came as a result of a *political commitment*. Therefore, ways of recognizing, approaching, understanding, and nurturing a (potential) leader might be very different for these two groups.

It appeared that to older directors, younger people --including potential leaders -- were nearly invisible. Older directors almost never spoke of younger staffers or peers either as people to mentor or nurture, as colleagues, or as future leaders in their or other organizations. Very few of the younger directors talked about learning from or talking to older peers, instead they learned from the work. And only a small number of younger staff members considered an older director as a mentor. Younger directors seemed far more aware of building new (young) leadership than older directors, even though the

\_

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 18}$  Thanks to Curtis Ogden for this insight.

older directors were more likely to talk about the problem of 'succession'. If there is a real interest in the continuation of existing social change organizations that sustain and build on existing work, it is not clear how that will happen in any systematic way in light of these findings.

Recommendations: There is no reason why the issue of young leadership development cannot be raised in social change organizations. More specifically, older directors could be encouraged and taught how to recognize young leadership from within and outside of their organization. Furthermore, younger directors could also be encouraged to continue to identify and build new leadership. Examples of practices for building new leaders that have worked well should be documented, and the results used as a basis for training. For example, the organization in this study in which a young staffer talked extensively about the important training and support she received from her older director could be used as one model to build upon. There is also a role for frank discussions about generational differences in experience and expectation within social change organizations as part of staff development and team-building.

In addition, young people in social change organizations could be encouraged by their directors to take on positions of authority and responsibility with support that would give them the types of experiences they need to develop their skills. Funders could support directors in this endeavor by not penalizing the organization for the mistakes that might ensue as young people try out new positions and ideas. They might also create incentives for organizations to actively engage in leadership development as part of capacity building and long-term impact. Finally, training of young staffers might result in these staff members moving out of the organization to accept a leadership role elsewhere. Therefore, there also needs to be support for organizations that are willing to make this investment.

#### **Integration: Work and Personal Life**

For young staffers the organization for which they work is important. It provides them with social networks, teaches them about the issues they are trying to confront, and gives

them the support they need to do social change work. However, younger staff members who are putting in long hours and making an emotional commitment to their organizations seem to be floundering as they try to figure out how to continue their work and make a life for themselves alongside the job. These demands on staff members did not seem to be simply a problem of older directors' expectations. Staffers in organizations run by young directors, and young directors themselves, experienced the same pressures and dilemmas. The culture of social change work -- never being able to do or give enough -- seemed to be passed on directly or indirectly from one generation to the next. Though this did not cause a problem for everyone, it was painful to see how much some young people – so dedicated to social justice – were left without guidance or tools for how to solve this very basic dilemma.

Recommendations: The conflict between having both a meaningful job in social change work and a life outside the job may only be important in certain periods of a staffer's life. For older and younger people who derive so much meaning and identity from their work, putting in long hours can give them a lot of pleasure. On the one hand, the staffs' identification with the work promotes the type of commitment that is so valuable. On the other, this same identification can make it hard either to stay and to have a life outside or to leave the job and create a life outside. There needs to be serious consideration of how to create manageable jobs that allow time for family life and relaxation. Again, frank discussions within organizations about how best to sustain social change work would be useful. The goal would be to acknowledge that social change work is more than a 'just a job' and that staff members do derive meaning from their work and at the same time note that the only option should not have to be giving the rest of one's life away. Sometimes this lack of balance can lead to a lack of perspective that is detrimental to social change efforts. Older directors should spend time with young staff and younger directors to help them strategize ways they can stay in the work while maintaining activities, not to mention families, outside.

#### **Training for New Leaders**

One of the most confounding problems posed by the respondents was their disdain for any advanced degree to prepare people for leadership positions. Older respondents entered social change work full of political knowledge but without management skills needed to lead an organization. Younger people were often more interested in management and growth but often lacked education about the structured causes of problems the organization was designed to address. Both groups' perceptions of nonprofit and other management programs stressed their lack of relevancy to *their* type of work. Future leaders in this area do not simply want hard management skills, though many could use them. They are looking for a place where they can learn both about the social systems they are trying to change and about organizational structures that would support their social change work.

Ironically, without appropriate programs in this area, there is a danger that only those who attend elite institutions of higher education will have the legitimacy needed to be credible leaders of social change organizations, new or old. The idea that anyone can simply work themselves to the top of an existing social change group does not appear to be a realistic expectation.

Recommendations: Programs designed to train nonprofit managers need to be questioned for their relevancy to those involved (or interested) in social change work. Rather than only stressing professionalization, these programs should include room for those interested in pursuing a variety of alternative organizational/service/advocacy models, perhaps even developing case studies on the opportunity for developing new ways of running nonprofit organizations. Of course, not all of the education that staffs and directors need has to come in the form of advanced degrees. However, it should be made clear to staff members what pathways will lead to higher leadership positions. These should be realistic and based on examples, and staffers should be given support – through scholarships, time off, work/study – to pursue these different options.

#### **Running the Organization**

Closely related to the issue of training is the understanding by directors, especially older directors, of the different models of decision-making within organizations. Directors want both to give the staff the opportunity for input and to reserve the right to decide when the director will make the final decision. Unfortunately, this method does not always work for staffs who are unclear when they do and do not have authority over decisions. This is especially difficult as organizations grow. In this study there were at least two models that were used in decision-making. One required a high level of staff involvement, valuing input and deliberation, at a minimum, on any major decision. The other was more decentralized and required a high level of staff autonomy, especially by program directors. How and when each worked well was not always clear, though each had certain advantages and disadvantages.

Recommendations: Clearly articulated expectations of staff, especially in organizational decision-making, is not only helpful in retaining employees, it can also be a fertile ground for training new leadership. Directors need education about the different ways to run organizational decision-making processes. This type of education could contain the following: First, alternative models should be defined, with examples. Second, there should be an opportunity to understand which models work well under what circumstances. Third, there could be a discussion of what type of person thrives under the different models. And finally, this type of education should be accompanied by case studies either from the participants or from other organizations. All of these can be used to train staff and to further develop models of decision-making that nurture young leaders and support older ones as well.

#### Race, Gender, and Power

Looking to encourage new directors to enter social change work may mean that social change organizations need to look more closely at how they address the issues of race, gender and power within the organization. Lamentation about the lack of new leaders may be in part due to the current leadership's (directors', funders', boards') inability to see potential leaders that do not look and act like themselves. The issues of race in

particular and gender are difficult to address, and are often given surface attention in social change organizations, especially those run by white leadership. On the one hand, directors often feel attacked for their inability to solve within the organization, a problem that is systemic in society. On the other, their frustration can often lead to avoidance in taking on the issue in a straightforward way. In addition, leaders of color face similar issues when it is assumed that they can only represent people from their own race/ethnicity. Most important, however, is the understanding that issues of race and gender are not only issues of representation. They are issues of power.

#### Recommendations

Most staffers in social change organizations have been exposed to some sort of training in diversity. Directors often talk about race and gender by calculating the percentage of staff who are people of color or women. If the numbers are high, it is assumed that the organization has already solved this issue. However, given the complexity of these issues in the society at large, neither of these methods alone addresses the larger issue. Directors of social change organizations might identify new potential leaders as they address the issues of race and culture directly. Organizations may also need help in developing an ongoing and systemic way to support an honest exploration of these issues.

#### **Planning for Succession**

It appears to be extremely difficult for older directors, even those who are in the process of changing their jobs, to think about working outside of their organizations. For those not looking to leave immediately, there is a little interest in identifying someone who could succeed them. Most of the older directors we interviewed did not seem to want to touch this topic at all. Perhaps in reaction to their older peers, young directors are wary of staying too long in their positions. Based on their responses, however, it would not be a surprise if many of the younger leaders became long-term leaders of their organizations and eventually confronted some of the same problems as their older peers.

Directors overall feared that the next person in their position would change what they worked so hard to build. When pushed, they often talked about finding a successor who

understood and continued to support the existing values, principles, methods, decision-making style, and a host of other organizational characteristics. In other words, they would like to find a new director who would not make fundamental changes to the organization.

Recommendations: Directors who have worked for many years in the same organization are unlikely to leave for new jobs, especially considering how difficult it would be to find another position that would offer them more. This does not mean that they cannot be tapped to think about and help train new leadership, as well as to listen and learn from young leaders in other organizations. Structuring exchanges between younger and older leaders on a variety of different issues - including building new leadership - might be a productive endeavor. In addition, providing places where older directors together are encouraged to think about the future of their organization might help them to discuss these sensitive topics. Not addressing succession at all is problematic for both the individuals who have run these organizations for so long and for the other staff members who work with them. There also needs to be a better way to acknowledge and support – financially and otherwise - older directors who are thinking of leaving their positions. Giving them the respect they deserve for a lifetime of work is extremely important and a good model for emerging leaders of the future. Finally, it might be useful for current directors to think about how their respective organizations contribute to a more general push for social justice in the nonprofit sector. Seeing themselves as part of something larger, not just their organizations, might help motivate these leaders to think more seriously about contributing to a legacy of new leadership.

# **Appendix A – Resources**

- Andolina, M., Jenkins, K., Keeter, S., & Zukin, C. (2002, September 19). *The Civic and Political Health of the Nation: A Generational Portrait*. CIRCLE, The Center for Information & Research on Civil Learning & Engagement.
- Bailey, K. & Nazy'at, N. (1999, Winter). Developing Potential Leaders Through Experience. *The Nonprofit Quarterly*, 6, Issue 4.
- Bagby, M. (1998). Rational Exuberance: The Influence of Generation X on the New American Economy. New York: Dutton.
- Bennett, S.E., Craig, S.C., & Rademacher, E.W. (1997). Generations and Change. In Craig, S.C. and Bennett, S.E. (Eds.), *After the Boom: The Politics of Generation X* (pp.1-19). New York: Rowman and Littlefield.
- Bositis, D.A. (2001). *Diverging Generations: The Transformation of African American Policy Views*. Washington, DC: The Joint Center for Political and Economic Studies.
- Catalyst (2001). *The Next Generation: Today's Professionals, Tomorrow's Leaders*. New York: Catalyst.
- Coupland, D. (1991). *Generation X: Tales for an Accelerated Culture*. New York: Saint Martin's Press.
- Daboval, J.M. (1998). A Comparison Between Baby Boomer and Generation X

  Employees' Biases and Foci of Commitment. Dissertation submitted to School of Business and Entrepreneurship at Nova Southeastern University.
- Filipczak, B., Raines, C. & Zemke, R. (2000). Generations At Work. New York: AMACOM.
- General Social Survey, GSS 1972-2000 Cumulative Datafile. Retrieved July 2002 from the World Wide Web: http://sda.berkeley.edu:7502.
- Georges, C. (1993, Sept. 12). The Boring Twenties; Grow Up, Crybabies, You're America's Luckiest Generation. *The Washington Post*, p. C1.
- Glenn, N.D. (1977). *Cohort Analysis*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Goss, K. (1999). Volunteering and the Long Civic Generation. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*. 28, 378-415.
- Halstead, T. (1999, August). A Politics for Generation X. *The Atlantic Monthly*, 284, No.2, 33-42.

- Hornblower, M. (1997, June 9). Great Xpectations. *Time*, 58.
- Jurkiewicz, C. L. (2000). Generation X and the Public Employee. *Public Personnel Management*, 29, 55-74.
- Kaminow, B. (1999). X, Lies, and Social signs: Defining Generation X In Naylor, L.L. (Ed.), *Problems and Issues of Diversity in the United States* (pp.147-60). Westport, CT: Bergin and Garvey.
- Kertzer, D. I. (1983). Generation as a Sociological Problem. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 9, 125-149.
- Kitwana, B. (2002). The Hip Hop Generation: Young Blacks and the Crisis in African American Culture. New York: Basic Books.
- Kunreuther, F. (2002). Building Movement vs. Building Organization: Summary of Regional Discussions: Draft Report to the Ford Foundation. Cambridge: Hauser Center for Nonprofit Organizations, Harvard University.
- Kunreuther, F. (2000). Report of Proceedings from Reconstructing Society Through Social Change; A Meeting of the Nonprofit Practitioners Project. September 16-19, 1999. Cambridge: Hauser Center for Nonprofit Organizations, Harvard University.
- Lankard, B.A. (1995). Career development in generation x. *Educational Resources Information Center*. Retrieved July 2002 from the World Wide Web: http://ericacve.org/docgen.asp?tbl=mr&ID=57.
- Lee, G., Mesch, D.J., Perry, J., & Tschirhart M. (1998). Altruists or Egoists? Retention in Stipended Service. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 9, 3-21.
- Levin, M. (2001, January). Bridging the Generation Gap. *Association Management*, 92-97.
- Levy, A. (1994). Looking for Generation X. *Division and Diversity 3(3)*, 24-26.
- Mannheim, K. (1952). The Problem of Generations. In Mannheim, K. (Ed.), *Essays on the Sociology of Knowledge* (pp. 276-320). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Maclean, M. & Onyx, J. (1996). Careers in the Third Sector. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 6, 331-45.
- Murphy, S.A. (2000). A Study of Career Values by Generation and Gender. Dissertation submitted to the Fielding Institute.

- QSR NVivo. (2002). Qualitative Software. Victoria, Australia: QSR International Pty Ltd.
- O'Bannon, G. (2001, Spring). Managing Our Future: The Generation X Factor. *Public Personnel Management*, 95-109.
- Ortega y Gasset, J. (1961). The Modern Theme. New York: Harper and Row.
- Peter D. Hart Research Associates, Inc. (1998, August 28). New Leadership for a New Century: Key Findings From A Study on Youth, Leadership, and Community Service. Conducted for Public Allies & funded by the Surdna Foundation.
- Princeton Survey Research Associates (1997). *Labor Day Survey; Trust in Government*. Retrieved July 2002 from the Roper Center via the World Wide Web: http://80-web.lexis-nexis.com.
- Radcliffe Public Poilcy Center (2001). *Life's Work: Generational Attitudes Toward Work and Life Integration*. Radcliffe Institute of Advanced Study and Harris Interactive Inc.
- Rata, S. (1993, October 4). General Tensions in the Office: Why Busters Hate Boomers. *Fortune*, 56.
- Schuman, H. and Scott, J. (1989, June). Generations and Collective Memories, *American Sociological Review*, *54*, 359-381.
- Strauss, W. and Howe, N. (1993). 13<sup>th</sup> Gen: Abort, Retry, Ignore, Fail? New York: Vintage Books.
- Strauss, W. and Howe, N. (1991). *Generations: The History of America's Future, 1584 to 2069*. New York: William Morrow and Company, Inc.
- Thompson, L., Clark, K., and Gunn, Jr., W. (1985, Nov). Developmental Stage and Perceptions of Intergenerational Continuity. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 47, *Issue* 4, 913-920.
- Time, C.N.N., Yankelovich Partners Poll (1997, May). Work and Family. Yankelovich Parnters, Inc. Retrieved July 2002 from the Roper Center via the World Wide Web: http://80-web.lexis-nexis.com.
- Tulgan, B. (1996). *Managing Generation X*. New York: Norton and Company.
- Virginia Slims American Women's Opinion Poll (1995). Study. USRSPVASLIMS 94-543/065. The Roper Center for Public Opinion Research at the University of Connecticut. Retrieved July 2002 from the Roper Center via the World Wide Web: http://80-web.lexis-nexis.com.

# Appendix B - Topic Guide

Sample Topic Guide – Generational Changes in Nonprofit Leadership Respondents: Older Leaders of Established Organizations\*

#### I. The Work of the Organization; Meaning and Future of "Social Change" Work

Tell me a little bit about the kind of work this organization does.

Do you think of this organization as working toward "social change"? (If not: why not? What would look like social change?) (If so:) In what way(s)? (Invite explanation.) Follow-up/probes: Details? Part of mission? Part of organization's philosophy? Specific activities? (Explore what social change means to the respondent.)

What do you see happening to this organization in the future? (Follow-up/probes: will it continue doing the same kind of work? Will it be a leader? What will the field look like?)

What kinds of resources will be needed (by the organization) in the future? What kind(s) of challenges will the leadership face? Will those call for special leadership skills, do you think? What kinds? Different from what's been required in the past?

What do you see as your own role in the organization's future?

#### II. Organizational Structure Form and Experiences of Change

We're interested in the way nonprofit organizations work, and how decisions get made. Perhaps you could walk me through a recent example of how a decision was made here?

Is that typical of the way decisions get made here? (Probe for roles of exec, board, etc.) Has it always been this way? (Probe for how changes in leadership may result in a change in decision-making process.)

Have you seen this organization go through much change?

Can you give me a couple of specific examples? (Probe for details: What generated the change? How did it come about? How easy/difficult was it, and why?)

<sup>\*</sup> Note that this guide was for an older leader. The topic guides differed only slightly depending on the age and position of the respondent.

Are those examples typical of the way change happens in this organization? (Probe for key forces generating change, how it happens, etc.)

(If not already answered:) Have there been times there was disagreement over change? Or when change was promoted but failed to occur (Explore specifics.)

(If not already discussed:) I'd like to ask you specifically about changes in organizational leadership. Has there ever been a change in top leadership here? How did that work?

What do you think the process will be the next time?

## III. Individual's Beliefs, Attitudes on (Social Change) Work

How did you come to be doing this work? (Probe: how long, how started, why.)

What do you enjoy in your work? What gives you satisfaction?

(If not mentioned:) Do you have a sense of connection to the community the organization serves? (Explore.)

- What do you find challenging in the work? Is there anything that frustrates you? (Probe for information re: colleagues' workstyles, autonomy issues, teamwork, communication, feedback etc.)
- How does this job fit into the larger path of your work life? (E.g., is it a side-path, a natural step in an ongoing process, something to build on . . .?) (Explore in detail. Probe for work motivations: important to build career? Commitment to mission? Loyalty to organization?)
- (If not already answered:) How long do you see yourself continuing to do this work? What do you see yourself doing next?
- People have different ways of thinking about how work fits into their lives -- can be most important thing, least important, can be important but balance more so. How do you think about the place of work in your life?

#### IV. Leadership Values and Styles

When you think of effective leaders in this kind of organization, what qualities do they have? What does it take to lead an organization like this?

What do you think are your own strengths and weaknesses as a leader in this type of organization?

How did you develop your own skills? Was formal education or training important? How about informal training (OJT, mentoring/coaching, learning from peers, etc.)?

Do you feel that process was adequate, or would you have liked more training, or a different kind of training or support?

How much of the preparation for this kind of work do you think can be acquired in formal education programs?

Some people think that gender and race play a role in leadership and or decision/making in this kind of organization? What is your experience in this area?

# V. Demographic Questions

We have a form with a list of questions with some factual information on your organization and I was hoping you could tell me the least intrusive way I could fill this out. However, before we do that, I wondered if you could tell me a couple of things about yourself?

Your age?

I'm not exactly sure how you describe your race/ethnicity?

How long you have been in this position?

How long you have been in this organization?

How long you have been in the field?

Thanks, now way is the easiest way for you or your staff to help me get some sense of this information (show form). A best estimate is fine with me.

**Appendix C – Table 1 Characteristics of Sample Organizations** 

		Size		Staff Demographics		Leader(s) Demographics*		
Agency/Number of								
Respondents	Age (Years)	Budget	Staff	Percent Male	Percent White	Age Group	Race/Ethnicity	Gender
Boston								
Advocacy agencies:								
ARP (3)	20	\$766,000	8	38%	63%	O	W	F
CEA (2)	9	\$530,565	10	30%	30%	Y	POC	M
Service agencies:								
HOP (2)	20	\$2,400,000	44	7%	20%	O	W	F
SED (3)	111	\$3,300,000	49	33%	27%	O	POC	F
ATF (3)	7	\$1,600,000	23	0%	9%	Y	POC	F
PGM (3)	5	\$2,300,000	28	30%	45%	Y	W	M
Organizing agencies:								
TEC (2)	10	\$1,458,000	19	37%	53%	O	W	M
SRV (2)	n/a	\$76,848	n/a	n/a	n/a	O/Y	POC/W	F/F
DUS (2)	18	\$1,147,932	14	29%	21%	Y	POC	M
New York City								
Advocacy agencies:								
UBJ (3)	17	\$2,400,000	37	22%	62%	O	W	M
PLD (2)	30	\$2,000,000	13	14%	14%	O	POC	M
CUF (2)	25	\$1,200,000	12	33%	92%	Y	W	F
Service agencies:								
BRS (3)	8	n/a	13	54%	0%	Y/Y	POC/POC	M/F
Organizing agencies:								
EBR (2)	22	\$325,000	4	25%	25%	O	W	M
UHB (2)	29	\$2,300,000	23	52%	35%	O	W	M
MRW (2)	5	\$790,000	14	57%	21%	Y	W	M

Abbreviations: n/a = data not available; O=older; Y=younger; W=white; POC=person of color

<sup>\*</sup>Multiple categories indicates more than one "leader."

Appendix D – Table 2 Respondent Characteristics

	Number of		Demographics		
	Respondents	Age Range	<b>People of Color</b>	Women	
Directors*					
Older	9	45-69	3 (33%)	4 (44%)	
Younger	4	27-36	3 (75%)	2 50%)	
Entrepreneurs**	4	27-41	2 (50%)	1 (25%)	
<b>Members of Collectives</b>					
Older	1	54	1 (100%)	1 (100%)	
Younger	1	32	0 (0%)	1 (100%)	
Staff members					
Older	3	50-62	1 (33%)	2 (67%)	
Younger***	16	21-42	11 (69%)	10 (63%)	
<b>Total respondents</b>	38	21-69	22 (58%)	21 (55%)	
Leaders/Collective Members	19	27-69	10 (53%)	9 (47%)	
Staff Members	19	21-62	12 (63%)	12 (63%)	

<sup>\*</sup>Included among the older directors are two women of color from the same organization, one of whom was just retiring and the other of whom was just starting, at the time of our interviews. As a result, the table of respondents includes one more leader than is reflected in the organizations table.

<sup>\*\*</sup>Entrepreneurs were people who had started and were now leading young organizations. One of these organizations was headed by a team of two leaders, one of whom was 41 (the oldest of the "young" leaders). The other two entrepreneurial agencies were each headed by one younger leader.

<sup>\*\*\*</sup>Five of these were over 35 years old.